

Data analysis: Student disadvantage and success at university

Anthony Manny, Zhizhou Yin, Helen Tam, Robert Lipka, Paul Dickins and Graham Sciberras



Table of contents

1		Execut	ive summary	3
2		Introdu	iction	4
	2.1	Definitio	ons	4
		2.1.1	Socio-economic status (SES)	4
		2.1.2	Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status	5
		2.1.3	School-based factors	5
		2.1.4	Higher School Certificate (HSC)	5
		2.1.5	Australian Tertiary Admission Rank (ATAR)	5
		2.1.6	Grade point average (GPA)	6
	2.2	Literatu	re review	6
		2.2.1	Socio-economic disadvantage and educational outcomes	6
		2.2.2	Progress in widening participation in disadvantaged groups	7
		2.2.3	Socio-economic disadvantage, the ATAR and university success	8
		2.2.4	Equity scholarships and university success	10
	2.3	Pathwa	y to university	. 10
		2.3.1	HSC and ATAR attainment and university application and enrolment by IEC quartile) 10
		2.3.2	Students from regional and remote areas and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students	15
		2.3.3	Disadvantage and school characteristics	20
		2.3.4	Disadvantage and HSC subjects	23
3		Analys	is	28
	3.1	First-ye	ar outcomes	28
		3.1.1	First-year outcomes by type of disadvantage	28
		3.1.2	First-year outcomes by school factors	34
		3.1.3	First-year outcomes by secondary subject selection	35
	3.2	Explorir 3.2.1	ng the impact of different factors on the ATAR and first-year GPA XGBoost predictive model and SHAP value	40 40
		3.2.2	Overall effect of disadvantage and related features on the ATAR and first-y GPA	ear 41
		3.2.3	The effect of disadvantage on the ATAR and first-year GPA	48
		3.2.4	The effect of high school on the ATAR and first-year GPA	51
		3.2.5	The effect of subject choice on the ATAR and first-year GPA	56
		3.2.6	The effect of university, field of study and scholarship on first-year GPA	59
		3.2.7	The effect of multiple disadvantages on the ATAR and first-year GPA	62
4		Conclu	isions	64



5		References	. 70
6		Further reading	. 72
7		Appendix	. 74
	7.1	First-year outcomes by school factors	. 74
	7.2	Summary of the machine learning models	. 75



1 Executive summary

Published literature and our own research have established that inequality exists in educational outcomes between advantaged and disadvantaged groups.

The definition of 'disadvantage' is often determined by the data available, and most research has focused on each disadvantage independently without accounting for the interaction between them.

Compared with their non-disadvantaged peers, students from disadvantaged backgrounds are less likely to progress to Year 12 or to attain an ATAR (on average a lower ATAR) and are less likely to enrol at university. However, this pattern is reversed once ATAR is considered. That is, given the same ATAR, lower-SES students enrol at a higher rate at university and once there, generally slightly outperform their non-disadvantaged peers.

In this analysis, we used machine learning techniques to investigate the complex relationships between three types of disadvantage and their impact on school and university achievement: low SES, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status, and remoteness of residence (plus other related school-based factors).

We examined the average absolute impact of the following factors on the ATAR and GPA (listed in order of importance):

- 1. a student's academic ability or proxy measure for ability (eg level of HSC subject)
- school- or university-related factors (eg high school size and location, university course field of study). These factors can be a proxy measure for ability (and/or family attitude towards education) and may also be affected by other disadvantage factors.
- 3. gender
- 4. other factors (eg residential IEO rank, residential remoteness, and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status).

Note: We used senior secondary school and first-year university results in this analysis. The effects of disadvantage likely contribute to a student's academic achievement prior to this period but have not been investigated here. Similarly, disadvantage may prevent students from progressing to Year 12; however, we have not included these students in our data set. Disadvantage may also affect the choice of school or university attended.

Academic ability (or its proxy measures) has the greatest impact on success at high school and university, regardless of disadvantage; this is not to say that disadvantage doesn't play a major part in a student's previous academic development. A student makes many choices during education which affect the outcome (eg subjects studied or school attended) and, since disadvantage can limit a student's options, a range of options and support must be available so students can achieve their potential.

We found limited evidence that disadvantage undermines student success during the transition from senior secondary study to university. Equity scholarships were found to be effective, furthermore, it is assumed that other programs to assist disadvantaged students are also effective – we found that, on average, disadvantaged university students slightly outperform their non-disadvantaged peers with the same academic ability.

The ATAR remains the best measure of academic achievement and predictor of university success, therefore it is the best tool for use in university admissions. However, it is important to recognise that the ATAR summarises a student's senior secondary school achievement and is one of many potential pathways to university. The ATAR and GPA are not the only measures of success, particularly if a student has no desire to attend university.

A full list of policy recommendations can be found in the conclusions section (section 4).



2 Introduction

Most governments around the world aim to increase their population's participation in higher education, and Australia's is no exception. This goal is largely driven by an assumed relationship between education and economic growth – as a population's education level increases, its labour force becomes more skill- and knowledge-based. This increase is considered the driver of innovation and enterprise, both of which generate national wealth (OECD 2010).

In this spirit, the Bradley Review of Australian Education recommended the implementation of a 'demand-driven system' to expand university participation (Bradley Review 2008). Between 2010 and 2017, the Australian Government uncapped limits on the number of government-supported domestic undergraduate university places. Its goal was for 40 per cent of Australia's population to have a bachelor degree or higher by 2025 (Bradley Review 2008).

The ideal that access to higher education should be universal and not obstructed by socioeconomic factors (eg household income, location of residence or school attended) is connected to the policy of widening participation, and that only university admission requirements should limit participation. Historically and today, university admission is based on prior academic achievement for most current school leavers (ie those who have just completed secondary schooling). Universities continue to use the ATAR (Australian Tertiary Admission Rank) – developed in 2008 to summarise Year 12 students' academic achievements – as the primary method to determine whether the applicant will likely succeed in, and therefore should be admitted to, a course.

The cumulative impact of socio-economic disadvantage on students' academic performance up to the end of Year 12 creates an equity issue. Universities acknowledge this impact, which has been countered by measures such as ATAR adjustment factors, equity scholarships and access schemes.

This interplay between socio-economic disadvantage, academic achievement in secondary school and university performance forms the premise of our analysis. In this report, we aim to uncover the effects of various disadvantages on student achievement in Year 12 and first-year university. In 'Data analysis: the impact of senior secondary study choices on success at university', we showed the importance of the ATAR in predicting university success and found that university success is largely independent of the specific subject choices opted by HSC students (Manny et al. 2020). Here, we will focus on whether the ATAR – the summary indicator of a student's achievements in secondary schooling – is affected by socio-economic disadvantage and if it contributes to predicting university success independent of this disadvantage.

2.1 Definitions

This section details some of the recurring concepts and measures that will be used in this analysis.

2.1.1 Socio-economic status (SES)

Socio-economic disadvantage comes in many forms and can be measured in many ways. Three main equity groups are commonly identified in Australia: people with lower-SES backgrounds, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, and people who live in remote areas (Perry 2018).

The first and primary measure of disadvantage used in this analysis is a student's SES, which is assigned based on the Index of Education and Occupation (IEO) ranking of the Statistical Area 1 (SA1) in which the student resides. All SA1 areas across Australia are ranked by the Index of Education and Occupation – part of a suite of estimates called Socio-Economic Index for Areas



(SEIFA)¹ created by the Australian Bureau of Statistics' (ABS) to measure the SES of a locality/region in Australia. Following common practice in existing research, low-SES students here are defined as those residing in an SA1 area which is in the lowest quartile (bottom 25 per cent, referred here as the 1st quartile) of IEO ranking in Australia. (Note: The 1st SES quartile is the bottom 25 per cent of SA1 areas, and not 25 per cent of the Australian population.) Similarly, when citing other research, this definition of low SES is assumed unless otherwise stated.

2.1.2 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status of HSC students' has been obtained from the NSW Education Standards Authority (NESA).

2.1.3 School-based factors

Several school-based factors are included in this analysis: school size, the number of HSC courses offered at the school, school location (remoteness) and school type. School average SES is measured by averaging the IEO index of each student attending that school (ie school average IEO quartiles represent the average of the attending students, not a quarter of schools). The disadvantaged school list used prior to 2019 was updated annually and consisted of schools that were identified as being among the most socio-economically disadvantaged by the NSW Department of Education and Communities or the Catholic Education Commission of NSW.

2.1.4 Higher School Certificate (HSC)

The HSC is a secondary school qualification received by NSW students at the completion of Year 12 and is administered by NESA. Students must satisfactorily complete the required number of HSC courses to be eligible for the qualification. Note: Not all students of the Year 12 age cohort receive the HSC, as not all meet HSC eligibility requirements². These students may receive a Record of School Achievement (RoSA) at the completion of Year 12.

In this report, HSC students are defined as those who have been awarded the HSC qualification in the year immediately before the year of admission to university. These students are also 'current school leavers' (ie there is no time gap between the end of their secondary education and start of their tertiary education).

2.1.5 Australian Tertiary Admission Rank (ATAR)

The ATAR is a rank calculated by the Universities Admissions Centre (UAC) for all students in NSW. Developed for the purpose of university admission, the ATAR ranks students based on their academic achievements. The ATAR ranges from 0.00 to 99.95 with increments of 0.05; ATARs below 30.00 are not reported to students.

The ATAR for each jurisdiction in Australia is calculated by that jurisdiction's tertiary admission centre (TAC). Because all jurisdictions use a common methodology to derive the rank (Harrison and Hyndman 2015), a particular ATAR is considered equal across all jurisdictions, regardless of its issuing authority and is therefore transferrable across Australian states and territories.

In NSW, the ATAR is calculated using exam and moderated school assessment marks achieved by students in their HSC courses; these marks are provided to UAC by NESA. These HSC marks are scaled to remove differences in the average academic ability of candidatures across different HSC courses. Once the marks are scaled, an aggregate based on the student's best 10 units – with at least two units from English and at least eight units of Category A courses – can then be calculated. In turn, this aggregate is used to rank students, producing the ATAR.

¹ https://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/2033.0.55.001

² <u>https://educationstandards.nsw.edu.au/wps/portal/nesa/11-12/hsc/rules-and-processes/rules-procedures-guide-students</u>



Like the HSC, not all Year 12 students receive the ATAR as not all meet ATAR eligibility requirements³.

2.1.6 Grade point average (GPA)

In our analysis, the primary measure of success at university is the GPA based on first-year results obtained by current school leavers who have applied through UAC, received an offer, enrolled in a university course in the year immediately following Year 12 and remained enrolled at the course census date. First-year GPA is used due to the data's timeliness and availability to UAC. There is supporting evidence that first-year GPA correlates strongly with completion rates (Norton et al. 2018), which suggests that performance in the first year sets the foundation for the student's overall performance in the remainder of their university course.

The GPA of students who changed courses during first year was weighted by the study load completed for each course. Students with zero study load for a course were not included in the analysis, as they have either deferred or effectively withdrawn from the course.

Other measures of first-year success used include:

- incomplete first year: achieving a GPA of zero with a non-zero study load (recording a fail for all subjects)
- completed first year with fails: recording a non-zero GPA but failing at least one subject
- completed first year with no fails: achieved a pass grade or better in all subjects.

First-year GPA and the other measures of success used here could also be considered leading indicators for first year attrition.

2.2 Literature review

2.2.1 Socio-economic disadvantage and educational outcomes

Most published studies on disadvantage and education are generally limited by the data available, which causes two main research limitations. Firstly, most research focuses on only one disadvantage at a time without accounting for the interaction between different disadvantages. Due to a lack of data, other contributing factors may not have been considered. Secondly, defining the measures of disadvantage is inconsistent. In many cases, the definition of disadvantage is determined by the data available which is inconsistent across the published research.

Inequality in educational outcomes between advantaged and disadvantaged groups in society has been well documented around the world. Generally, participation and achievement outcomes (eg assessment scores, GPAs) are poorer for students from lower socio-economic backgrounds. A meta-analysis of 58 mainly American studies showed that, overall, the relationship between SES and academic performance is medium to strong (Sirin 2005), which suggests that socio-economic effects on educational outcomes have been persistent and substantial (Thomson 2018).

Similarly, educational inequality has a long history in Australia. Comparing studies between 1975 and 1998, Rothman (2003) found that SES (measured by father's occupation) influenced reading comprehension and mathematics scores in 14-year-olds. The impact of socio-economic disadvantage on educational outcomes is clear from early childhood to early adulthood. Disadvantaged groups are behind advantaged groups at all milestones of development (eg primary school readiness, meeting international proficiency standards at Year 7, attaining a

³ https://www.uac.edu.au/future-applicants/atar/atar-eligibility



Year 12 certificate (or equivalent) at age 19, and full engagement in education, training or work at age 24 (Lamb et al. 2015)).

In educational outcomes, the gap between disadvantaged and advantaged groups continues at the transition between secondary and tertiary education. Dobson and Birrell (1997) found that students from low-SES postcodes were the most underrepresented group in Australian universities, likely because fewer low-SES students completed Year 12 and obtained an ATAR – the most common pathway to accessing higher education. Using ABS census data from 2011, Lamb et al. (2015) found that only 60.6 per cent of young people living in the lowest decile SES areas (measured by SEIFA's Index of Relative Socio-economic Advantage and Disadvantage (IRSAD)) completed Year 12, compared with 89.1 per cent of young people living in the highest decile SES areas. This attainment gap was also apparent in the likelihood of gaining an ATAR – 36.1 per cent of young people from the lowest decile SES areas versus 83.3 per cent for the highest decile (based on data from the Longitudinal Surveys of Australian Youth (LSAY) in 2009). Finally, the effects of disadvantage flowed on to participation rate in higher education – 17.3 per cent of people aged 20 to 24 in the lowest decile SES areas enrolled at university, compared with 47.2 per cent for the highest decile SES areas on data from the Lowest decile SES areas and the survey of Education and Work).

Similar attainment gaps exist between Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and non-Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander groups, and between those living in remote/rural and urban areas. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander youth were less likely to complete Year 12 than non-Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander youth (58.4 per cent compared to 75.2 per cent completion rate). As remoteness of residence increases, the likelihood of completing Year 12 decreases (78.2 per cent for those living in major cities versus 43.4 per cent living in very remote areas); and across Australia, 62.3 of city students received an ATAR, compared with 27.7 per cent for those in remote areas (Lamb et al. 2015).

2.2.2 Progress in widening participation in disadvantaged groups

Given these educational inequalities, increased participation in equity groups previously underrepresented in higher education was inherent in the goal of widening participation (Bradley Review 2008). The Bradley Review set a target that, by 2020, low-SES students would comprise 20 per cent of higher education enrolments.

UAC data on applicants from the 2017 HSC cohort showed that, for students with ATARs below 60, the low-SES group was more likely than other SES groups to apply to, and subsequently enrol at, university, which perhaps reflects the efficacy of the widening participation policy (Manny 2020). Overall, however, low-SES students remained less likely to be ATAR-eligible or to obtain a high ATAR than higher-SES groups.

Recent analysis published by the National Centre for Student Equity in Higher Education (NCSEHE) showed that between 2013 and 2018, the percentage of low-SES student university enrolments across Australia increased from 15.8 to 17.0 – still short of the 2020 target of 20 per cent. The data, sourced from the Australian Government Department of Education, Skills and Employment, showed that higher education participation increased among other disadvantaged groups (eg Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students and students with a disability); however, regional and remote student enrolments decreased as a share of total enrolments (Koshy 2019).

Similar conclusions were made by the Productivity Commission (2019) in its 'report card' on the demand-driven system's implementation. Using LSAY data, the commission found increasing low-SES⁴ group participation in higher education, but in the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander group, the participation gap remained and, in fact, may have widened for people living in remote regions.

⁴ Productivity Commission's definition of low SES is inherited from the LSAY. This measure is detailed in Lim and Gemici (2011).



2.2.3 Socio-economic disadvantage, the ATAR and university success

Although the level of participation by equity groups remains lower than that of other groups in society, some progress has been made in achieving equality in access to higher education in Australia.

As the Productivity Commission (2019) report highlighted, the 'additional students' flowing into tertiary education – due to the system's expansion – were more likely to come from the lowest SES quartile compared with other students; however, these additional students had lower ATARs, lower rates of literacy and numeracy, and dropped out at a higher rate compared with other students. Therefore, it appears that socio-economic disadvantages are drivers of academic attainment throughout primary and secondary schooling, and consequently, levels of attainment predicates higher education success.

However, two questions remain: Independent of the ATAR, does the effect of socio-economic disadvantage endure beyond high school to influence university performance? Is university performance determined predominantly by the level of previous academic attainment (of which the ATAR is one measurement)?

Several studies have examined the complex relationships between socio-economic disadvantage and educational outcomes in the transition from secondary to tertiary education.

Birch and Miller (2006) obtained data from University of Western Australia students who commenced in 2001 and graduated from high school the year before. An ordinary least squares (OLS) regression showed a positive correlation between first-year weighted average marks (WAM) and the ATAR's predecessor, the Tertiary Entrance Rank (TER), being female, and attending a government rather than a Catholic or independent school. Using quantile regression techniques they also found that the importance of these factors on WAM varied according to students' performance. Specifically, while these factors did not have significant predictive effects on high-achieving students (those performing above the 85th percentile at university), they had a pronounced impact on the grades of low-achieving students with below-average to average first-year marks. These researchers also found no significant effects of SES on WAM, as measured by SEIFA's Index of Economic Resources (IER).

Messinis and Sheehan (2015) developed a composite measure of SES by combining SEIFA's Index of Socio-economic Advantage and Disadvantage (SAD) and the school type attended by the students in their study. Their research sample consisted of over 55,000 students who attended Victoria University from 2009 to 2013. They found that higher prior achievement (ATAR) was associated with significantly higher first-year marks, although other factors had a significant detrimental effect on first-year performance (eg gender (ie being male), low SES and having a non-English speaking background). The researchers stressed that, despite these findings, a large amount of variance in first-year performance remained unexplained by the variables included in their study. That is, many students with a low ATAR showed that they could still succeed at university. Furthermore, their quantile regression showed that the effect of the ATAR on first-year marks was more impactful for the low-SES than the high-SES group. While an increase in ATAR corresponded with an increment in first-year mark for both SES groups, the increment was greater for low-SES than for high-SES students. Also, when all other factors (eg gender, school) were equal, low-SES students tended to achieve higher first-year marks than high-SES students at a given ATAR, and that school quality had little effect on firstyear university performance.

Li and Dockery (2014) provided similar findings concerning the effects of SES and school characteristics on university performance. Using data from over 8,000 students who attended an unnamed university between 2011 and 2013, they found that students from low-SES schools performed marginally better at university than those from higher-SES schools, suggesting that higher-SES schools may somehow 'inflate' their students' ATARs⁵.

⁵ Li and Dockery (2014) used ICSEA to define school's SES and university performance was measured by WAM.



Li and Dockery (2014) carried out random-effects models to investigate the effects of SES, other student demographical factors and the ATAR on university performance. In their first set of models, school SES (measured by the Index of Community Socio-Educational Advantage (ICSEA)), student characteristics (eg age, gender, SES as measured by IER and IEO) and other regressors (eg field of study taken at university, school characteristics, school resourcing) were entered incrementally into the model to explain variance in WAM. Because the ATAR was not included as a regressor, the total effects of these factors on WAM would include any intermediary effects these factors may have on ATARs. This set of regressions showed very mild effects of an individual's SES (IER) – as well as modest effects of school characteristics (school sector, co-ed status) and resourcing – on WAM. The factors with the most significant (positive) effects on WAM were gender (female), specific fields of study, and age (older students), with the co-ed status of schools (single-sex) having some moderately positive effect.

Li and Dockery (2014) ran the same models again, including the ATAR as a regressor, and found that the ATAR had very large impacts on WAM. Their models showed that an increase in one standard deviation in the ATAR amounted to an increase of 6 points in WAM. The influence of a school's SES remained statistically significant once the ATAR has been controlled for; that is, low-SES schools were associated with better university performance. However, individual SES did not affect university performance once the ATAR has been accounted for.

Walker-Gibbs et al. (2019) sought to determine the unique contribution of individual SES and the ATAR on university performance, once student characteristics and demographic factors had been accounted for. Their sample consisted of over 7,000 students enrolled in four undergraduate courses at a Victorian university in 2016. They identified the following groups of students as more at risk of failing or dropping out: those with a low or no ATAR, studying part-time and off-campus, and mature age. Importantly, analyses of variance (ANOVAs) examining the effect of individual SES and other factors (eg attendance type, attendance mode and age) on failure and drop-out rates showed little or no main effect of individual SES. That is, individual SES by itself was not an adequate category in predicting the likelihood of failure at university.

Overall, the studies described in this section varied greatly in sample (size, type of cohort), time of study, definitions of disadvantage, types of predictive factors and outcome measurements, statistical methodology, plus other features. Despite these differences, it appeared students' tertiary academic performance was influenced predominantly by:

- their prior academic achievements at secondary school (typically measured by the ATAR), followed by
- other socio-demographic factors, such as age, gender, course-based factors (eg field of study) and institution-based factors (eg part-/full-time study and attendance mode).

An individual's SES appeared to have little impact on university performance⁶, although there was some evidence that school-level SES did. Importantly, students from low-SES schools were shown to outperform their peers from high-SES schools when other factors were controlled for (Birch and Miller 2006; Li and Dockery 2014; Messinis and Sheehan 2015).

Similarly, Anderton (2017) found that first-year university students who attended government schools scored a higher GPA compared with those who attended non-government schools; and while secondary school tuition fees correlated positively with the ATAR, they correlated negatively with first-year GPA.

Generally, the outlook appears favourable for students with socio-economic disadvantage provided they were able to complete their university studies, and by age 25 their employment outcomes were as good as those of other students (Productivity Commission 2019).

⁶ Where there was some evidence as in Messinis and Sheehan (2015), the individual SES measure used by these authors was a composite of SEIFA's SAD and school type attended by the students.



2.2.4 Equity scholarships and university success

Published research on educational outcomes of need-based scholarships concentrates on describing influences on student enrolments and retention. Few papers contain measures on how these scholarships influence GPAs. The literature indicates that appropriately resourced scholarships increase lower-SES students' enrolment, retention and success rate at university, when they are combined with other support and mentoring services that make up for a deficit of knowledge and cultural capital needed in an unfamiliar and competitive environment.

Equity and equity-merit scholarships awarded at Deakin University, Queensland University of Technology and The University of Sydney were found to be effective at retaining recipients across different demographic groups, universities, and scholarship products (Zacharias and Ryan 2020). The scholarship design element that most influenced effectiveness was a scholarship's eligibility criteria. The authors recommend that multi-factor assessment for scholarship eligibility is needed because existing definitions of equity groups are not sufficient at individual level and should not be used to assess applicants except for disability or a health condition. The authors also emphasise that money alone does not overcome all barriers to educational success and scholarships need to be part of a comprehensive support system.

Macquarie University's equity scholarship program strongly improved retention rates and produced other positive psychological and social outcomes among recipients (Reed and Hurd 2016). The authors point out that lower participation in higher education of students from low-SES backgrounds in Australia is driven by the necessity for families with limited means to provide financial support. The value of this scholarship program varied from one-off payments to larger awards covering on-campus accommodation. Scholarship recipients reported reduced financial anxiety, improved motivation, feelings of inclusion at university, less time required for paid work and more time for study. In turn, these effects led to less stress and more collaboration with peers.

In other countries, equity scholarships have resulted in positive effects on student outcomes in higher education. In Italy, government grants used to pay university fees and cover educational costs improve the beneficiaries' chance of obtaining credits towards their degree, completing their degree on time and decreases the likelihood of dropping out (Sneyers et al. 2016). In Canada, a combination of mentoring and financial support produced the best student outcomes compared with other conditions where only mentoring or no support was given (Angrist et al. 2009). In southern United States, programs waiving tuition fees based on merit led to a significant increase in young people achieving a college degree (Dynarski 2008); however, in both the Canadian and US studies, findings suggested that these equity programs tended to have a more significant effect for women than for men. Dynarski (2008) also concluded that while tuition fees are an important influence on college completion, the main impediment was associated costs.

2.3 Pathway to university

2.3.1 HSC and ATAR attainment and university application and enrolment by IEO quartile

This report focuses on the effects of three types of disadvantages on achievement at school and university: low SES, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status, and regional and remoteness status, along with other related school-based factors. It is important to examine all three in context of each other to get a true picture of the complex relationships between them. We will start with low SES, defined as the 1st quartile of IEO students, as these students represent the largest single disadvantage group.

The Year 12 retention rate, ATAR attainment rate and university application and enrolment rates of low-IEO students are lower than those for high-IEO students – a fact well-documented and discussed above.

As Figure 1 shows, the NSW cohort also demonstrates this pattern. (It is worth repeating that the SA1 quartiles represent 25 per cent of SA1 areas, not 25 per cent of the population; the total



population of the 1st IEO quartile SA1 areas is less than the higher quartiles; approximately 21 per cent of the total population live in the 1st IEO quartile SA1 areas, versus 32 per cent for the 4th IEO quartile SA1 areas.) Figure 1 tracks the percentage of 2013 to 2017 HSC students through ATAR attainment, application via UAC, and university enrolment. Of all 4th IEO quartile HSC students, 49.6 per cent progressed to university enrolment. This proportion decreases going down the IEO quartiles, with 27.9 per cent of 1st IEO quartile HSC students enrolling at university.



Figure 1: Cumulative progression by IEO quartile (per cent awarded HSC 2013 to 2017).

Note: University enrolment only includes students who enrolled in a course via a UAC application. While UAC represents the single largest market for NSW Year 12 university applications and enrolments, it does not include all. Students can apply directly to a NSW university and participate in higher education interstate or overseas.

The 4th IEO quartile HSC students not only make up a higher proportion of students attaining an ATAR (35.5 per cent compared with 25.1 per cent from the 3rd quartile, 22.1 per cent from the 2nd IEO quartile and 17.3 per cent from the 1st quartile), they also receive, on average, higher ATARs than their lower-IEO peers. Figure 2 clearly demonstrates the dominance of 4th IEO quartile students in ATAR bands of 80 and above. While representing 35.5 per cent of all ATAR students, 4th IEO quartile students make up 56.7 per cent of 90+ ATARs and 45.0 per cent of 80 to 89 ATARs. In contrast, 1st IEO quartile students, who represent 17.3 per cent of all ATAR students, only make up 8.1 per cent of 90+ ATARs and are overrepresented in 30 to 39 ATARs with 31.1 per cent. The 70 to 79 ATAR range is closest to the overall IEO distribution of ATAR-attaining students.





Figure 2: ATAR by IEO quartile (2013 to 2017, ATAR <30 not shown).

Previous research has confirmed that more high-ATAR students tend to apply for and enrol at university than lower-ATAR students (Manny et al. 2020). This holds true across the different IEO quartiles. Within the same IEO quartile, students with higher ATARs were more likely to apply and enrol than students with lower ATARs. Although there are fewer 1st IEO quartile students with high ATARs (Figure 2), Figure 3 shows that, for students with ATARs above 70, there is little difference between IEO quartiles in terms of UAC application rates; however, below ATARs of 70, students from lower-IEO quartiles were more likely than those from higher-IEO quartiles to apply to and enrol at university. In particular, the increased rate of enrolment for lower-IEO students compared with their higher-IEO peers is more pronounced than in the application rate.

The increased enrolment rate of lower-IEO students can be partially explained by the rate at which these students take a gap year (ie they first enrol in university one year after completing school – Figure 4). When the ATAR is considered, there is only a small difference in gap year and enrolment rates between the IEO quartiles. For example, let us compare 1st and 4th IEO quartile students with an ATAR above 90:

- 9.0 per cent of 1st IEO quartile students take a gap year compared to 10.6 per cent of 4th IEO quartile students (1.6 percentage point difference).
- 78.6 per cent of 1st IEO quartile students enrol compared to 73.2 per cent of 4th IEO quartile students (5.4 percentage point difference).

Lower-IEO/lower-ATAR students are more likely to take a gap year at the same or higher rates than higher-IEO students (with ATARs of 30 to 49) and still enrol at higher rates (with no gap year). There is little difference between gap year rates of 1st to 3rd IEO quartile students; however, we still see higher enrolment rates from lower quartile IEO students. Note that there are many reasons to take a gap year which are not necessarily related to SES.





Figure 3: Cumulative progression by IEO quartile and ATAR (per cent ATAR students 2013 to 2017, ATAR <30 not shown).

Figure 4: Students taking a gap year by IEO quartile and ATAR (per cent ATAR students 2013 to 2017, ATAR <30 not shown).





Table 1 shows some distinct field of study enrolment trends for students with different ATARs. Much of this behavior is driven by course selection criteria. There are also some distinct trends related to IEO rank with higher-IEO students having a greater preference for Architecture and Building, Management and Commerce, Society and Culture, and Creative Arts, whereas lower-IEO students have a greater preference for Natural and Physical Sciences (particularly at ATARs below 90), Engineering and Related Technologies, Health and Education.

Table 1: Field of study – Proportion of students enrol	led by ATAR and IEO quartile (ATAR
2013 to 2017).	

	IEQ Quartila	1 - Natural and Physical Sciences	2 - Information Technology	3 - Engineering and Related Technologies□	4 - Architecture and Building	5 - Agriculture, Environmental and Related Studies	6 - Health 🛛	7 - Education □	8 - Management and Commerce□	9 - Society and Culture □	10 - Creative Arts□
90-99	4th Quartile	15.05%	2 62%	10 72%	2 42%	0.34%	12 05%	1 56%	26 64%	20.98%	7 63%
00 00	3rd Quartile	16 19%	3.03%	11 74%	1 99%	0.34%	15.82%	2 04%	24 55%	17 73%	6.56%
	2nd Quartile	16.89%	2.68%	13.69%	1.71%	0.39%	16.95%	2.43%	23.46%	16.41%	5.40%
	1st Quartile	15.29%	2.09%	13.41%	1.81%	0.34%	20.70%	2.77%	25.04%	14.00%	4.55%
80-89	4th Quartile	15.06%	3.90%	9.08%	4.57%	0.80%	11.52%	3.62%	14.53%	25.75%	11.17%
	3rd Quartile	16.40%	3.35%	10.86%	3.79%	0.97%	15.58%	5.35%	13.21%	21.88%	8.63%
	2nd Quartile	16.94%	3.81%	11.22%	3.60%	0.78%	17.10%	6.21%	12.11%	21.27%	6.96%
	1st Quartile	16.84%	3.94%	12.92%	3.37%	0.60%	15.98%	5.79%	13.93%	20.16%	6.48%
70-79	4th Quartile	12.11%	4.40%	6.08%	4.85%	0.83%	12.77%	4.47%	12.71%	29.94%	11.84%
	3rd Quartile	13.70%	4.01%	7.75%	3.85%	1.08%	15.53%	6.84%	12.19%	25.32%	9.74%
	2nd Quartile	13.52%	4.23%	8.31%	3.70%	0.99%	16.96%	7.80%	11.97%	24.06%	8.44%
	1st Quartile	15.05%	4.89%	9.40%	3.30%	1.12%	15.52%	7.20%	12.07%	24.06%	7.38%
60-69	4th Quartile	9.74%	5.64%	3.97%	4.10%	0.99%	12.99%	7.68%	15.63%	28.74%	10.51%
	3rd Quartile	11.71%	4.66%	4.66%	3.91%	1.29%	13.93%	10.63%	15.81%	24.61%	8.78%
	2nd Quartile	11.57%	4.45%	5.80%	3.98%	1.04%	13.20%	10.07%	14.81%	27.23%	7.83%
	1st Quartile	12.16%	5.58%	5.69%	4.00%	0.74%	13.93%	9.82%	13.74%	27.86%	6.49%
50-59	4th Quartile	9.26%	5.49%	2.40%	4.12%	1.13%	12.89%	7.17%	21.16%	25.99%	10.39%
	3rd Quartile	7.16%	5.31%	3.44%	3.67%	1.41%	13.22%	10.83%	18.65%	26.93%	9.38%
	2nd Quartile	8.73%	5.79%	3.40%	3.51%	1.35%	12.89%	9.90%	16.99%	28.09%	9.35%
	1st Quartile	7.60%	5.92%	3.13%	3.25%	1.50%	13.28%	10.70%	16.23%	29.66%	8.74%

Higher ATAR students tend to enrol in Group of Eight (Go8) universities in higher proportions (Table 2) with regional universities enrolling higher proportions of lower-ATAR and lower-IEO students.

At all ATARs, 4th IEO quartile students enrol in Go8 universities at greater proportions than lower-IEO students. However, 1st IEO quartile students with an ATAR above 80 tend to enrol in Go8 universities at higher rates than 2nd and 3rd IEO quartile students with the same ATAR. 1st IEO quartile students with an ATAR below 80 tend to enrol in Go8 universities at higher rates than 2nd R below 80 tend to enrol in Go8 universities at higher rates than ATAR below 80 tend to enrol in Go8 universities at higher rates than ATAR below 80 tend to enrol in Go8 universities at higher rates than 2nd IEO quartile students with the same ATAR.



	University Group							
ATAR	IEO Quartile	Regional	Metro	Go8				
90-99	4th Quartile	0.40%	29.27%	70.33%				
	3rd Quartile	0.89%	34.18%	64.94%				
	2nd Quartile	1.30%	34.86%	63.84%				
	1st Quartile	1.58%	28.82%	69.60%				
80-89	4th Quartile	1.03%	56.77%	42.20%				
	3rd Quartile	2.77%	61.90%	35.33%				
	2nd Quartile	3.36%	63.03%	33.61%				
	1st Quartile	3.30%	60.32%	36.38%				
70-79	4th Quartile	2.01%	78.43%	19.57%				
	3rd Quartile	4.22%	81.90%	13.88%				
	2nd Quartile	5.56%	82.09%	12.35%				
	1st Quartile	6.07%	80.92%	13.01%				
60-69	4th Quartile	3.31%	91.86%	4.82%				
	3rd Quartile	6.48%	89.81%	3.71%				
	2nd Quartile	7.59%	89.26%	3.15%				
	1st Quartile	8.97%	87.44%	3.59%				
50-59	4th Quartile	4.29%	92.80%	2.91%				
	3rd Quartile	8.29%	89.95%	1.76%				
	2nd Quartile	9.79%	88.96%	1.25%				
	1st Quartile	11.09%	87.38%	1.53%				

Table 2: Proportion of	of students enrolled by u	niversity group, b	by ATAR and IEO quartile
(ATAR 2013 to 2017).	-		-

2.3.2 Students from regional and remote areas and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students

A crosstabulation between Australian Statistical Geography Standard (ASGS) remoteness classification and IEO quartile of our HSC students shows a very clear relationship between these two variables (Table 3). Over three quarters of HSC students (76.7 per cent) reside in major cities and are predominately from higher-IEO groups. In comparison, HSC students who reside in regional and remote areas are predominately from lower-IEO quartiles. It is worth noting that relatively few HSC students live in very remote regions (0.36 per cent); this is mostly due to a low starting population and is exacerbated by the lower Year 12 retention rate in remote areas (Lamb et al. 2015).

Note: Go8 includes USyd, UNSW and ANU, Metro includes UTS, MU, GU, UoN, UoW, ACU, UC and WSU, and Regional includes UTas, CSU, UNE, CQU, SCU and La Trobe.



	1st	2nd	3rd	4th		
	Quartile	Quartile	Quartile	Quartile	Total	Proportion
Very Remote Australia	31.1%	16.9%	50.7%	1.3%	100%	0.1%
Remote Australia	49.9%	29.9%	17.3%	2.9%	100%	0.3%
Outer Regional Australia	47.5%	30.9%	19.1%	2.6%	100%	5.1%
Inner Regional Australia	30.1%	32.9%	28.5%	8.5%	100%	17.8%
Major Cities of Australia	17.5%	21.1%	23.7%	37.8%	100%	76.7%
Total	21.3%	23.7%	24.3%	30.6%	100%	100%

Table 3: Proportion of HSC students by remoteness and IEO status (2013 to 2017).

Table 4 shows the same residential remoteness by IEO quartile crosstabulation for HSC students of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status (6,849 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander HSC students in the data set). Compared with the total HSC cohort, these students are predominantly from lower-IEO quartiles and reside in regional and remote areas. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students represent:

- 2.1 per cent of all HSC students
- 20.8 per cent of all HSC students who live in remote areas
- 28.9 per cent of those living in very remote areas
- 4.4 per cent of all HSC students from the 1st IEO quartile.

Table 4: Proportion of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander HSC students by remoteness and IEO status (2013 to 2017).

	1st	2nd	3rd	4th		
	Quartile	Quartile	Quartile	Quartile	Total	Proportion
Very Remote Australia	66.2%	29.2%	4.6%	0.0%	100%	0.9%
Remote Australia	54.4%	27.5%	16.6%	1.6%	100%	2.8%
Outer Regional Australia	64.7%	22.4%	11.6%	1.3%	100%	16.2%
Inner Regional Australia	47.8%	31.7%	17.7%	2.8%	100%	34.2%
Major Cities of Australia	34.1%	30.6%	20.8%	14.5%	100%	45.8%
Total	44.6%	29.5%	17.9%	7.9%	100%	100%

Figure 5 shows the percentages of students who progressed from ATAR attainment to UAC application and university enrolment by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status and ASGS remoteness classification. Figure 6 shows the corresponding percentages for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students by ASGS remoteness classification. Figure 5 shows that progression rates decline as remoteness of residence increases and Figure 6 shows that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students have lower progression rates for the same remoteness status when compared to the total HSC student cohort (Figure 5).





Figure 5: Cumulative progression by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and remoteness status (per cent awarded HSC 2013 to 2017).

Figure 6: Cumulative progression of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander HSC students by remoteness status (per cent awarded HSC 2013 to 2017).





Regional and remote students and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students not only attain ATARs at lower rates than the total cohort average, but generally receive a higher proportion of lower ATARs (Figure 7) – this is also the case for lower-IEO students (Figure 2). It is worth repeating that these disadvantage indicators tend to co-occur; thus, there are higher proportions of lower-IEO students in more remote areas (Table 3) and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students make up higher proportions of both lower-IEO and more remote categories (Table 4).



Figure 7: ATAR by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and remoteness status (2013 to 2017).

Figure 8 shows a similar progression trend for IEO quartiles as shown in Figure 1 above (ie lower-IEO students attain ATARs, apply through UAC and enrol at lower rates than higher-IEO students). The ATAR attainment rate declines as remoteness increases for the same IEO quartile, and this 'remoteness effect' becomes even more pronounced for application and enrolment rates.





Figure 8: Cumulative progression by remoteness status and IEO quartile (per cent awarded HSC 2013 to 2017 – small sample size removed).

As Figure 9 shows, when comparing progression rates of UAC application and university enrolment by ATAR and remoteness status, remote students typically apply to UAC at the highest rate for their ATAR. This trend does not translate to enrolments for ATARs above 60 but does so for ATARs below 60. Remote students may also apply to and enrol at non-UAC participating interstate universities which, despite being in a different state, may be geographically closer.

For a given ATAR range, students from major cities enrol through UAC applications at significantly higher rates than regional and remote applicants, despite similar application rates. Again, interstate enrolments may explain these lower regional and remote enrolment rates.





Figure 9: Cumulative progression by remoteness status and ATAR (per cent ATAR 2013 to 2017 – very remote students removed due to low sample size by ATAR).

Note: Very remote students have been removed due to the very low sample size when divided by ATAR. Remote and very remote students may apply interstate rather than to UAC as they may be geographically closer to non-UAC participating interstate universities.

2.3.3 Disadvantage and school characteristics

The intricate relationships between the various disadvantage categories discussed so far are further complicated when school characteristics are considered. Schools were classified into five size groups with each group consisting of roughly equal number of HSC students (averaged over five years of HSC data). To gain a greater understanding of the characteristics of very small schools, the smallest classification was then divided in half, and each half contained an equal number of schools (Table 5). Large schools had 168 or more HSC students per year compared to fewer than 30 HSC students per year in the very small schools.

In general, the large and medium/large schools (>133 HSC students) which account for 40 per cent of all HSC students are very similar, as are the very small to small/medium schools (<102 HSC students). The rate of ATAR attainment is approximately 91 per cent in the large and medium/large schools and approximately 80 per cent in the very small to small/medium schools with medium schools in the middle at 86 per cent.

The number of HSC subjects studied in each school size category above 30 students is similar: from 125 to 129 out of the 133 subjects available. In comparison, students in very small schools only studied 106 subjects between them. The average number of subjects studied per school declines with school size; however, the extent to which this trend is due to subject availability or demand by school is not entirely clear. Having fewer students at the school to create demand for subjects and offering niche subjects that are studied by few or no students, may be partly responsible for this trend.

Overall, subject availability does not appear to be a large problem except in very small schools (<30 students) whose students don't study as broad a range of subjects in total (106 of the 133



available subjects) – this indicates a potential problem and may be, partially, a result of the lower proportion of students (3.8 per cent) attending very small schools.

Small schools also offer a significantly lower average number of subjects per school (24.3). The lower number of subjects studied in very small schools does not appear to inhibit the ATAR attainment rate, as it is in line with small and small/medium schools.

It is worth noting that subjects delivered by alternate providers (eg community languages or VET subjects) are counted with subjects offered at the school in which the student is enrolled. While not strictly offered by their school, the student still has access to the subject.

	Large	Med/Large	Medium	Small/Med	Small 30 -	Very Small	All
	168+	134 - 167	102 - 133	70 - 101	69	<30	Schools
Number of Schools	59	88	111	154	206	207	825
%HSC Students	20.1%	20.1%	20.1%	20.0%	15.8%	3.8%	100%
%ATAR students	21.5%	21.5%	20.2%	18.8%	14.4%	3.6%	100%
% ATAR attainment	91.4%	91.2%	85.6%	80.5%	78.3%	80.3%	85.5%
Subjects studied	126	129	125	127	126	106	133
Avg subjects per school	61.2	55.9	53.0	49.1	41.5	24.3	40.7

Table 5: School size characteristics summary (HSC 2013 to 2017).

Table 6 shows that students in the 4th IEO quartile predominately attended schools with more than 133 HSC students and students in lower-IEO quartiles attended smaller schools. This table also shows that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students generally attend smaller schools.

		Large	Med/Large	Medium	Small/Med	Small 30 -	Very Small	All
		168+	134 - 167	102 - 133	70 - 101	69	<30	Schools
0	4th Quartile	29.1%	27.6%	18.0%	17.4%	6.4%	1.5%	100%
1SC Ints	3rd Quartile	17.4%	22.0%	23.2%	20.3%	13.5%	3.7%	100%
II F	2nd Quartile	14.6%	16.0%	23.5%	21.5%	20.1%	4.3%	100%
6 A Stu	1st Quartile	16.9%	12.4%	16.5%	21.6%	25.9%	6.8%	100%
0	Total	20 .1%	20.1%	20 .1%	20.0%	15.8%	3.8%	100%
U U	4th Quartile	15.9%	26.2%	22.6%	21.1%	9.8%	4.4%	100%
nts H	3rd Quartile	11.7%	15.1%	22.6%	22.9%	18.0%	9.7%	100%
IS I	2nd Quartile	9.8%	13.1%	20.0%	23.2%	22.9%	10.9%	100%
Al	1st Quartile	5.7%	8.4%	11.4%	23.5%	32.4%	18.7%	100%
%	Total	8.8%	12.4%	16.8%	23.1%	25.2%	13.6%	100%

Table 6: School size and student IEO quartile (HSC 2013 to 2017).

Table 6 shows the relationship between IEO quartile and school size, and is related to both the relationship between IEO quartiles and remoteness status (Table 3) and the more remote location of smaller schools (Table 7). Table 7 shows that all remote and very remote schools (by ASGS remoteness area) are very small schools (<30 HSC students). In contrast, most major city school students attended a medium to large school (>102 HSC students) and most regional students attended a small to small/medium school (30 to 101 HSC students). This pattern was more pronounced for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students.



-			-				-	
		Large	Med/Large	Medium	Small/Med	Small 30 -	Very Small	All
		168+	134 - 167	102 - 133	70 - 101	69	<30	Schools
	Major cities of Australia	57	83	88	108	115	78	529
s of	Inner regional Australia	2	5	23	38	69	54	191
ool Ser	Outer regional Australia				8	22	57	87
lin to	Remote Australia						13	13
ž"	Very remote Australia						5	5
	Total	59	88	111	154	206	207	825
	Major cities of Australia	24.9%	24.1%	20.3%	17.8%	11.3%	1.7%	100%
S S	Inner regional Australia	3.4%	6.9%	24.0%	28.5%	30.2%	7.1%	100%
en Ho	Outer regional Australia				27.7%	44.5%	27.8%	100%
All tud	Remote Australia						100.0%	100%
% N	Very remote Australia						100.0%	100%
	Total	20.1%	20.1%	20.1%	20.0%	15.8%	3.8%	100%
0	Major cities of Australia	16.0%	17.2%	23.1%	22.8%	17.8%	3.1%	100%
ts ts	Inner regional Australia	2.8%	11.5%	15.8%	27.5%	32.1%	10.2%	100%
eni F	Outer regional Australia				17.9%	40.2%	41.9%	100%
T ₁₅	Remote Australia						100.0%	100%
S.	Very remote Australia						100.0%	100%
0,	Total	8.8%	12.4%	16.8%	23.1%	25.2%	13.6%	100%

Table 7: School size and school ASGS remoteness area code	(HSC 2013 to 2017)
Table 1. School Size and School ASGS remoteness area coue	(1136 2013 10 2017).

Table 8 shows the average ATAR achieved by school size and school ASGS remoteness. Average ATARs generally decline as schools become smaller and more remote. This is related to student ATAR trends from the different IEO quartiles and remoteness status (as discussed and shown in Figures 2 and 7), and the type of school attended (as shown in Tables 6 and 7). It is unclear which factors in this complex relationship cause, and which are results of, these trends.

Table 8: Average ATAR by school size and school ASGS remoteness area code (HSC2013 to 2017).

		Large	Med/Large	Medium	Small/Med	Small 30 -	Very Small	All
		168+	134 - 167	102 - 133	70 - 101	69	<30	Schools
٨R	Major cities of Australia	74.23	74.64	68.16	66.25	59.92	58.47	70.14
	Inner regional Australia	63.84	63.09	63.86	60.32	60.65	56.68	61.40
AT/	Outer regional Australia				63.82	56.44	53.26	57.76
j D	Remote Australia						42.35	42.35
Ā	Very remote Australia						54.51	54.51
	Total	73.99	74.07	67.33	64.87	59.85	56.28	68.48

The result of the above trends can be summarised in the schools' average IEO of its students and the size of the school (Table 9). Schools with a higher average student IEO tend to be larger with higher average ATARs, while schools with a lower average student IEO tend to be smaller and have lower average ATARs.



		Large	Med/Large	Medium	Small/Med	Small 30 -	Very Small	All
		168+	134 - 167	102 - 133	70 - 101	69	<30	Schools
% All HSC Students	4th Quartile School IEO	8.1%	7.7%	3.9%	4.2%	1.1%	0.3%	25%
	3rd Quartile School IEO	5.0%	6.7%	7.0%	5.6%	3.7%	0.8%	29%
	2nd Quartile School IEO	5.9%	4.6%	8.6%	8.2%	7.8%	2.0%	37%
	1st Quartile School IEO	1.2%	1.2%	0.7%	2.1%	3.1%	0.8%	9%
	Total	20.2%	20.2%	20.2%	20.1%	15.6%	3.8%	100%
٢	4th Quartile School IEO	78.75	79.31	78.30	77.22	70.00	69.16	78.14
IAI	3rd Quartile School IEO	76.30	75.52	66.87	65.18	66.24	62.04	70.33
Ā	2nd Quartile School IEO	66.15	65.69	62.06	59.02	56.47	54.23	61.16
Avg	1st Quartile School IEO	64.59	54.84	58.77	48.78	50.28	49.00	54.10
1	Total	73.99	74.07	67.33	64.87	59.51	56.36	68.47

Table 9: School size and average school IEO (HSC 2013 to 2017).

Note: The average school IEO quartile classification is determined by the average IEO percentile of the students who attend that school and which quartile they belong to, not the rank of the school's average student IEO (ie if the average student IEO percentile for a school is greater than 75 then the school is classed as 4th quartile).

Research suggests that students select subjects according to their ability (Manny et al. 2020); that is, students of high academic ability tend to study particular HSC subjects. Parental influence on school selection may contribute to the above trends in a similar way. Many of these trends are driven by self-selection but, as mentioned, it is unclear which factors in these complex relationships cause these trends, which are results of these trends, and how these factors interact.

2.3.4 Disadvantage and HSC subjects

Higher-ATAR students tend to study particular HSC subjects (Manny et al. 2020), which is generally true across the school and student characteristics used above. Table 10 shows that the rate of study of Category B subjects increases as the ATAR decreases with little variance by school size. The rate of extension subjects studied decreases with the ATAR; however, students in smaller schools tend to study English and Mathematics Extension subjects at higher rates for the same ATAR compared with those in larger schools. This higher study rate in smaller schools does not extend to other extension subjects except for 90+ ATAR students, which suggests that subject availability may be an issue in smaller schools (ie students select English and Mathematics Extension subjects in the absence of other options). As all schools offer English and mathematics, it would be easier for students in smaller schools to access these as extension subjects rather than other less popular subjects that may not be offered.



		Category	English	Maths	Other
		В	Extension	Extension	Extension
ATAR	School Size	Subjects	subjects	subjects	subjects
90-99	Large 168+	2.4%	21.8%	58.8%	16.5%
	Med/Large 134 - 167	2.1%	24.4%	58.7%	15.3%
	Medium 102 - 133	2.8%	26.2%	46.7%	16.4%
	Small/Med 70 - 101	3.0%	27.8%	42.5%	18.9%
	Small 30 - 69	3.2%	27.1%	47.2%	13.3%
	Very Small <30	2.5%	25.6%	55.8%	27.3%
80-89	Large 168+	6.8%	10.5%	25.2%	10.1%
	Med/Large 134 - 167	7.5%	12.8%	24.1%	11.8%
	Medium 102 - 133	8.6%	13.7%	18.8%	10.6%
	Small/Med 70 - 101	8.0%	15.0%	20.8%	12.9%
	Small 30 - 69	8.7%	17.9%	22.3%	10.0%
	Very Small <30	6.6%	21.9%	30.2%	11.3%
70-79	Large 168+	12.8%	4.9%	11.8%	7.0%
	Med/Large 134 - 167	14.3%	6.6%	10.9%	8.3%
	Medium 102 - 133	14.6%	7.7%	9.4%	7.4%
	Small/Med 70 - 101	14.8%	8.4%	11.6%	10.0%
	Small 30 - 69	14.7%	11.4%	12.3%	8.1%
	Very Small <30	14.8%	13.4%	15.8%	6.4%
60-69	Large 168+	19.8%	1.8%	5.5%	5.3%
	Med/Large 134 - 167	20.9%	3.0%	5.3%	6.3%
	Medium 102 - 133	20.7%	3.7%	4.2%	5.9%
	Small/Med 70 - 101	21.4%	4.2%	5.5%	7.0%
	Small 30 - 69	19.5%	6.0%	6.7%	5.5%
	Very Small <30	20.6%	6.6%	7.2%	4.7%
50-59	Large 168+	27.1%	0.9%	2.8%	4.4%
	Med/Large 134 - 167	27.6%	1.2%	2.6%	5.0%
	Medium 102 - 133	27.9%	1.3%	1.7%	4.9%
	Small/Med 70 - 101	27.2%	1.9%	2.7%	5.5%
	Small 30 - 69	26.3%	2.8%	2.9%	4.1%
	Very Small <30	24.4%	4.3%	3.6%	3.4%
40-49	Large 168+	33.5%	0.5%	1.3%	4.6%
	Med/Large 134 - 167	32.3%	0.8%	0.9%	4.3%
	Medium 102 - 133	32.8%	0.7%	0.9%	4.2%
	Small/Med 70 - 101	31.7%	1.1%	1.4%	4.5%
	Small 30 - 69	31.4%	1.4%	1.1%	3.6%
	Very Small <30	28.4%	1.8%	1.8%	2.4%
30-39	Large 168+	38.9%	0.1%	0.5%	4.0%
	Med/Large 134 - 167	36.0%	0.4%	0.5%	3.8%
	Medium 102 - 133	36.7%	0.2%	0.3%	3.5%
	Small/Med 70 - 101	35.9%	0.4%	0.5%	3.7%
	Small 30 - 69	36.6%	0.6%	0.6%	2.8%
	Very Small <30	33.8%	0.8%	0.5%	1.9%

Table 10: Rate of subjects studied by ATAR and school size (HSC 2013 to 2017, ATAR <30 not shown).



Consistent trends are evident when examining rates of study of Category B and extension subjects by ATAR and student IEO quartile (Table 11); however, there is some variance by IEO quartile. Lower-IEO students are more likely to study a Category B subject than their higher-IEO peers with the same ATAR. Lower-IEO students studied English Extension subjects and other extension subjects at lower rates than higher-IEO students with the same ATAR, particularly at higher ATARs. In contrast, lower-IEO students studied Mathematics Extension subjects at higher-IEO peers with the same ATAR.

		Category	English	Maths	Other
		В	Extension	Extension	Extension
ATAR	IEO Quartile	Subjects	subjects	subjects	subjects
90-99	4th Quartile	1.8%	26.5%	52.9%	19.8%
	3rd Quartile	3.1%	24.3%	55.2%	13.3%
	2nd Quartile	3.5%	20.4%	53.3%	10.6%
	1st Quartile	4.1%	17.3%	59.0%	9.9%
80-89	4th Quartile	5.9%	13.9%	21.1%	12.9%
	3rd Quartile	8.7%	13.7%	23.2%	10.3%
	2nd Quartile	9.0%	12.8%	23.1%	9.2%
	1st Quartile	10.5%	12.0%	27.2%	8.7%
70-79	4th Quartile	11.2%	7.5%	10.9%	9.1%
	3rd Quartile	14.8%	7.7%	10.6%	8.3%
	2nd Quartile	15.9%	7.7%	10.9%	7.4%
	1st Quartile	17.9%	7.3%	13.6%	6.3%
60-69	4th Quartile	17.0%	3.5%	5.0%	6.4%
	3rd Quartile	21.0%	3.7%	5.1%	6.1%
	2nd Quartile	22.2%	3.7%	5.6%	5.6%
	1st Quartile	23.3%	4.2%	6.2%	5.5%
50-59	4th Quartile	23.7%	1.6%	2.6%	4.8%
	3rd Quartile	26.9%	1.8%	2.4%	4.5%
	2nd Quartile	28.0%	1.7%	2.5%	5.2%
	1st Quartile	30.2%	1.9%	2.8%	4.5%
40-49	4th Quartile	28.4%	1.2%	1.4%	4.3%
	3rd Quartile	31.1%	0.7%	1.0%	4.0%
	2nd Quartile	33.2%	0.9%	0.9%	4.1%
	1st Quartile	34.6%	1.1%	1.3%	4.2%
30-39	4th Quartile	32.1%	0.4%	0.5%	3.3%
	3rd Quartile	35.3%	0.4%	0.5%	3.4%
	2nd Quartile	36.5%	0.3%	0.4%	3.5%
	1st Quartile	39.9%	0.4%	0.5%	3.5%

Table 11: Rate of subjects studied by ATAR and student IEO quartile (HSC 2013 to 20)17,
ATAR <30 not shown).	

Examining Category B and extension subject rates of study by ATAR and school average IEO quartile (rather than individual student IEO quartile) shows the same trends (Table 12); however, there are greater differences between IEO quartiles. The school's average IEO tends to drive the study pattern more strongly than the student's individual IEO; that is, students who attended low-average IEO schools were more likely to study Category B subjects than students of comparable individual IEO and ATAR who attended higher-average IEO schools. This is apparent in the difference between rates of study of Category B subjects by individual IEO quartile (1st IEO quartile 90-99 ATAR is 4.1% – Table 11) and corresponding average school IEO quartile (1st quartile avg. school IEO 90-99 ATAR is 5.4% – Table 12).



		Category	English	Maths	Other
		В	Extension	Extension	Extension
ATAR	Avg School IEO	Subjects	subjects	subjects	subjects
90-99	4th Quartile School IEO	1.8%	27.0%	52.3%	20.3%
	3rd Quartile School IEO	2.3%	24.2%	59.1%	14.0%
	2nd Quartile School IEO	4.6%	17.5%	47.5%	8.8%
	1st Quartile School IEO	5.4%	17.5%	64.1%	10.9%
80-89	4th Quartile School IEO	5.9%	12.9%	20.5%	13.4%
	3rd Quartile School IEO	7.5%	14.9%	24.5%	11.0%
	2nd Quartile School IEO	10.0%	12.2%	21.9%	7.8%
	1st Quartile School IEO	12.7%	13.3%	35.4%	10.3%
70-79	4th Quartile School IEO	10.8%	7.1%	10.0%	8.9%
	3rd Quartile School IEO	13.6%	8.2%	11.9%	8.8%
	2nd Quartile School IEO	17.3%	7.2%	10.6%	6.7%
	1st Quartile School IEO	18.5%	8.4%	18.2%	7.1%
60-69	4th Quartile School IEO	16.3%	3.1%	4.7%	6.1%
	3rd Quartile School IEO	19.8%	4.0%	5.5%	6.8%
	2nd Quartile School IEO	22.7%	3.8%	5.1%	5.2%
	1st Quartile School IEO	26.5%	4.1%	8.7%	5.8%
50-59	4th Quartile School IEO	23.4%	1.5%	2.6%	4.5%
	3rd Quartile School IEO	25.7%	1.6%	2.5%	5.5%
	2nd Quartile School IEO	28.5%	1.8%	2.3%	4.3%
	1st Quartile School IEO	33.2%	2.2%	3.8%	5.3%
40-49	4th Quartile School IEO	28.7%	1.1%	1.5%	3.8%
	3rd Quartile School IEO	30.3%	1.0%	1.1%	4.6%
	2nd Quartile School IEO	33.4%	0.8%	0.9%	3.8%
	1st Quartile School IEO	35.8%	1.4%	1.9%	4.7%
30-39	4th Quartile School IEO	31.5%	0.4%	0.6%	3.1%
	3rd Quartile School IEO	33.7%	0.4%	0.4%	3.7%
	2nd Quartile School IEO	37.2%	0.3%	0.4%	3.3%
	1st Quartile School IEO	43.2%	0.4%	0.6%	3.8%

Table 12: Rate of subjects studied by ATAR and average school IEO quartile (HSC 2013 to 2017, ATAR <30 not shown).

The tendency for high-ATAR students to specialise by studying more extension subjects (Table 12) is reflected in the lower number of key learning areas (KLAs) they study (Table 13).

In general, the number of KLAs studied is more closely linked to academically-oriented students who specialise than a school's average IEO. And lower-ATAR students tend to have broader study patterns than higher-ATAR students, regardless of a school's average IEO (Table 13).



ATAR	Avg School IEO	2	3	4	5+
90-99	4th Quartile School IEO	1.9%	23.5%	52.8%	21.9%
	3rd Quartile School IEO	2.2%	26.6%	51.9%	19.4%
	2nd Quartile School IEO	2.0%	25.6%	48.3%	24.1%
	1st Quartile School IEO	1.8%	29.0%	51.8%	17.4%
80-89	4th Quartile School IEO	1.4%	16.3%	48.6%	33.7%
	3rd Quartile School IEO	1.4%	16.3%	48.1%	34.2%
	2nd Quartile School IEO	1.6%	15.1%	46.5%	36.8%
	1st Quartile School IEO	1.5%	15.0%	49.4%	34.1%
70-79	4th Quartile School IEO	1.1%	14.2%	45.3%	39.4%
	3rd Quartile School IEO	1.0%	12.4%	45.8%	40.8%
	2nd Quartile School IEO	0.9%	11.4%	42.5%	45.2%
	1st Quartile School IEO	1.1%	12.7%	45.3%	41.0%
60-69	4th Quartile School IEO	1.0%	12.5%	43.7%	42.9%
	3rd Quartile School IEO	0.7%	10.8%	42.3%	46.2%
	2nd Quartile School IEO	0.8%	9.7%	41.6%	48.0%
	1st Quartile School IEO	0.8%	10.2%	40.0%	49.0%
50-59	4th Quartile School IEO	1.2%	10.8%	43.4%	44.7%
	3rd Quartile School IEO	0.6%	9.3%	41.4%	48.7%
	2nd Quartile School IEO	0.7%	8.2%	39.6%	51.6%
	1st Quartile School IEO	0.4%	7.8%	39.5%	52.4%
40-49	4th Quartile School IEO	0.9%	10.0%	42.8%	46.4%
	3rd Quartile School IEO	0.7%	8.9%	39.5%	50.9%
	2nd Quartile School IEO	0.5%	7.6%	38.9%	53.1%
	1st Quartile School IEO	0.5%	6.8%	40.4%	52.3%
30-39	4th Quartile School IEO	0.6%	10.5%	43.7%	45.2%
	3rd Quartile School IEO	0.5%	7.9%	40.3%	51.3%
	2nd Quartile School IEO	0.4%	7.3%	38.0%	54.3%
	1st Quartile School IEO	0.2%	5.6%	36.7%	57.5%

Table 13: Number of key learning areas studied by ATAR and average school IEO (HSC 2013 to 2017, ATAR <30 not shown).



3 Analysis

3.1 First-year outcomes

In the following section we provide a summary of first-year university outcomes (as defined in section 2.1) for HSC students (2013 to 2017) enrolling in a bachelor degree through UAC between 2014 and 2018. Prior research shows the ATAR's value in predicting first-year university outcomes and a clear positive relationship with first-year GPA (Manny et al. 2020). As a result, all other factors affecting first-year outcomes discussed in this section will be viewed in conjunction with the students' ATAR.

Throughout this section, it is unclear whether some trends are caused by certain cohorts of students under/overperforming in their ATAR or under/overperforming at university when compared to other cohorts. Other factors may also contribute to these observations, such as differences in resource availability and teaching styles between school and university, and a student's ability to adjust to these differences.

3.1.1 First-year outcomes by type of disadvantage

First-year university students largely perform to the level expected of their ATAR, regardless of their IEO status (Figure 10). For students with ATARs over 90, there is very little difference in pass/fail rates or first-year GPA, regardless of IEO status; however, as ATARs decline, 4th IEO quartile students begin to fail at a slightly higher rate when compared with lower-IEO quartile students with the same ATAR. This contributes to a slight drop in 4th IEO quartile average GPA – an effect that peaks for students with ATARs in the 60s and 70s and reduces at ATARs below 60. It is unclear whether this trend is caused by 4th IEO quartile students overperforming in their ATAR or underperforming at university when compared to lower-IEO quartiles.



Figure 10: First-year outcomes by ATAR and IEO quartile.



First-year university students also largely perform to the expected level of their ATAR, regardless of remoteness status (Figure 11). Again, there is little difference in pass/fail rates or GPA for students with ATARs over 90, regardless of remoteness status; however, as ATARs decline, students from major cities begin to fail at a slightly higher rate when compared with students from regional areas with the same ATAR. This also contributes to a slight drop in the average GPA of students from major cities. This effect is strongest for students with ATARs in the 50s to 80s and becomes weaker at ATARs below 50 – most likely due to the relationship between higher-IEO students residing predominately in major cities (as discussed in section 2.3.2).



Figure 11: First-year outcomes by ATAR and remoteness (remote and very remote removed – small sample size).

Figure 12 shows that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students in first-year university generally perform to the level expected of their ATAR, but slightly outperform non-Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students with the same ATAR – particularly for ATARs above 80. This trend is consistent with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students:

- being more likely to belong to a lower-IEO quartile and have a more remote background (as discussed in section 2.3.2), and
- having a slightly better pass/fail rate and GPA when compared with higher-IEO quartile students and those who reside in major cities (Figures 10 and 11).

At this stage, it is unclear whether Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students are underperforming in their ATAR or overperforming at university when compared to non-Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students.





Figure 12: First-year outcomes by ATAR and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status.

Figure 13 shows first-year outcomes by gender. Both genders display similar trends by ATAR and IEO quartile (as shown in Figure 10) – 4th IEO quartile students fail at slightly higher rates than lower-IEO students with the same ATAR. For ATARs above 90, there is little difference in pass/fail rates and resulting average GPA for the different genders; however, at ATARs below 90, there are distinct differences between the genders.

As ATARs decline, male students fail at higher rates than female students, which also results in a lower average GPA for males. This trend is consistent across IEO quartiles for students with the same ATAR and with other research (Birch and Miller 2006; Li and Dockery 2014; Messinis and Sheehan 2015). Research shows gender has an effect on university performance independent of IEO – females perform better than males when IEO has been accounted for. Further research to uncover the underlying reasons for males' underperformance at university may be of value.





Figure 13: First-year outcomes by ATAR, gender and IEO quartile.

Figure 14 shows first-year outcomes for students enrolled at different types of universities. The trend for 4th IEO quartile students to fail at a slightly higher rate is still present; however, compared to other examples, it is much less pronounced. Students who attend the same type of university still tend to perform at a level expected of their ATAR, regardless of IEO.

For students with the same ATAR, there are differences in pass/fail rates between different university types – Go8 universities have slightly higher fail rates than metro and regional universities. *Note: Go8 includes USyd, UNSW and ANU, Metro includes UTS, MU, GU, UoN, UoW, ACU, UC and WSU, and Regional includes UTas, CSU, UNE, CQU, SCU and La Trobe.*

As Table 2 shows, Go8 universities enrol more students with higher ATARs, while regional universities enrol more students with lower ATARs. If universities deliver courses at a level appropriate to the majority of their students:

- lower-ATAR students would struggle when enrolled in a university where most students have high ATARs, and
- higher-ATAR students would perform better when enrolled in a university where most students have low ATARs.





Figure 14: First-year outcomes by ATAR, university and IEO quartile (ATARs >60).

While students generally perform at a level expected of their ATAR, Figures 10 to 14 show a definite trend: the slight under/overperformance in the ATAR or first-year university outcomes of the various disadvantage groups have:

- the smallest impact for students with ATARs above 90 and below 50, and
- the largest impact for students with ATARs between 50 and 90.

As Table 2 shows, this trend can be partly explained by the different pass/fail rates of the university types, and proportion of students enrolled in the different university types by IEO quartile.

Several other factors may also contribute to this effect. Firstly, the aggregates that underlie ATARs are more clustered in the mid-ATAR ranges between 50 and 90, and – for ATARs above 90 and below 50 – are more spread out. This means that the same magnitude of change in the aggregate, say 1.0, would lead to a larger change in the rank for ATARs between 50 and 90, than it would be for ATARs above 90 or below 50.

Similarly, the difference between passing and failing a subject has a much larger effect on GPA than the difference between a pass and a credit (section 2.1.6). It is unclear why higher-IEO students tend to fail one or more subjects at a slightly higher rate; however, the difference in GPA (shown in the above Figures) is mostly driven by the difference in pass/fail rate. As Figure 15 shows, students from different IEO quartiles with the same ATAR who didn't fail anything have much closer average GPAs.

Also, the ATAR is a snapshot in time. While large changes in performance are unlikely in a single year, the small changes we observe here are possible. As discussed, research has found that disadvantaged groups are behind advantaged groups at all milestones of development (Lamb et al. 2015). It is possible that these students are, on average, catching up at university. It is also likely that, in school, high-IEO students (with greater economic resources) were given



more parental and social support and made more use of outside tuition than their low-IEO peers. If this practice does not continue into first-year university, lower-IEO students could close this gap. More research in this area may be of value.

7																												
6	.677	.682	.673	1.742	4.775	4.749	4.783	4.817	4.821	4.793	4.813	4.778	4.959	4.931	4.93	4.885	5.163	5.139	5.116	5.04	5.323	5.331	5.308	5.236	5.652	5.651	5.706	5.655
4	591 4	518 4	508 4	183	.646	567	588	555	.668	638	62	601	3.785	3.724	.681	.672	3.84	3.868	3.843	3.822	3.926	3.976	3.953	3.927	4.055	4.033	4.101	4.093
-	ς. Έ	3.0	3.0	3.4	3	ς.	ς. Έ	ć.	3	ŝ	'n	с.	~	(1)	ŝ	8								0	4	00	e	∞
3	2.43	2.457	2.352	.229	2.511	2.512	2.442	2.477	2.499	2.486	2.455	2.435	2.52	2.537	2.533	2.488	2.661	2.61	2.588	2.598	2.68	2.625	2.69	2.692	2.79	2.77	2.72	2.75
2				5																								
2																												
1																												
0																												
	1st Quartile	2nd Quartile	3rd Quartile	4th Quartile	1st Quartile	2nd Quartile	3rd Quartile	4th Quartile	1st Quartile	2nd Quartile	3rd Quartile	4th Quartile	1st Quartile	2nd Quartile	3rd Quartile	4th Quartile	1st Quartile	2nd Quartile	3rd Quartile	4th Quartile	1st Quartile	2nd Quartile	3rd Quartile	4th Quartile	1st Quartile	2nd Quartile	3rd Quartile	4th Quartile
30-39 40-49						50-	-59			60-	-69			70-	79			80-	-89			90-	.99					
	—Didn't fail anything —Eailed 0-25% of load —Eail												hali	25-	50%	6 of	loa	Ы										

Figure 15: First-year GPA by pass/fail rate, ATAR and IEO quartile.

If we consider students with the same ATAR and IEO quartile, those who receive an equity scholarship generally have slightly lower fail rates – and, as a result, slightly higher average GPAs – than those who did not (Figure 16).

Again, this effect is weakest for students with an ATAR above 90 or below 60 and strongest for students with an ATAR in the 70s. As with other factors already discussed, pass/fail rate is the biggest driver in average GPA difference between equity scholarship recipients and non-recipients. For students who do not fail anything, receiving an equity scholarship makes little difference to their average GPA.

If we consider students with the same ATAR, those who receive an equity scholarship record fewer incomplete first-years (ie they fail all subjects) than those who did not. This suggests that while equity scholarship recipients do not necessarily perform above a level expected of their ATAR (in terms of the marks they attain), they appear to be more resilient or motivated in completing first year. This would improve the retention rates of recipients, as first-year results are a good predictor of completion rates.





Figure 16: First-year outcomes by ATAR, equity scholarship and IEO quartile.

3.1.2 First-year outcomes by school factors

As discussed in section 2.3.3, there is an intricate relationship between the disadvantage categories of students and the characteristics of the school they attended. As a result, and as Figure 17 shows, there is a relationship between the outcomes and disadvantage profiles of students who attend schools with particular characteristics.

For students with an ATAR above 90, school mean ATAR has a small effect on first-year pass/fail rates and GPA (Figure 17). For students with an ATAR below 90 who attended a school with a mean ATAR above 60, there is a distinct increase in the fail rate and resulting reduction in GPA. This effect is more salient for ATARs in the 60s and 70s and less so for ATARs below 50.

As discussed in section 2.3.3, these schools tend to be larger and located in major cities with higher proportions of 4th IEO quartile students. It is unclear whether this represents ATAR overperformance or underperformance during first-year university; however, it is most likely related to the effects discussed in section 3.1.1. This incidence of ATAR overperformance/first-year underperformance is similar for higher-IEO students.





Figure 17: First-year outcomes by ATAR and school mean ATAR (small sample size removed).

To varying degrees, first-year university student outcomes continue this trend for the other school characteristics. The Appendix (section 7.1) shows examined outcomes for other school characteristics without further commentary; however, we will discuss their overall effect on outcomes in section 3.2.4.

3.1.3 First-year outcomes by secondary subject selection

HSC students can select from a wide range of subjects which can count towards their ATAR. These include Board Developed courses and vocational education and training (VET) courses, known as Category B subjects for ATAR purposes. Many Board Developed courses have an extension-level course available in which the student studies one extra unit; these courses are usually more in-depth than the 2-unit course and allows the student to specialise. As mentioned earlier, students tend to select subjects according to their ability (Manny et al. 2020), and this is true for student's studying Category B and extension subjects.

For comparison, subjects have been classed into five groups (Figure 18). The first two are English Extension and Mathematics Extension subjects – the two most common extension subjects. All other extension subjects and all Category B subjects were grouped together. All other Board Developed courses were grouped together, which represents the 'Total All Students' group (as a student must study a number of these courses to qualify for an ATAR). It is possible for a student to be included in more than one of these groups depending on their chosen subjects.

As Figure 18 shows, the outcomes for students with an ATAR above 90 are very similar, regardless of the HSC subject groups studied.

Patterns emerge at lower ATARs. Students with ATARs in the 50s to 80s who studied Category B, English Extension and other extension subjects tend to have a slightly better pass/fail rate and higher GPA than those who studied a Mathematics Extension subject. It is unclear if these students under/overperform in their ATAR or under/overperform during first-year university.




Figure 18: First-year outcomes by ATAR and subject group.

For students with an ATAR above 90 who studied English Extension, Mathematics Extension or Category B subjects, there is little difference in first-year outcomes for the different IEO quartiles (Figures 19, 20 and 21).

For ATARs between 60 and 90, we see a similar outcome pattern (Figure 10): 4th IEO quartile students have slightly higher fail rates and a lower average GPA than lower-IEO students. For ATARs below 60, the pattern is less consistent; however, the proportion of these English Extension or Mathematics Extension students is significantly lower.





Figure 19: First-year outcomes of students who studied English Extension subjects by ATAR and IEO quartile.









Figure 21: First-year outcomes of students who studied Category B subjects by ATAR and IEO quartile.

1st IEO quartile students who studied other extension subjects (Figure 22) vary slightly from the overall pattern described above. 1st IEO quartile students also fail at slightly higher rates and have a slightly lower-average GPA than their 2nd and 3rd IEO quartile peers – in the same way as 4th IEO quartile students do for all ATARs (including those above 90). The large variation between subjects included in this group may contribute to this observation. Further study in this area may be of value.





Figure 22: First-year outcomes of students who studied other extension subjects by ATAR and IEO quartile.

To examine student outcomes by the number of HSC key learning areas (KLAs) studied (Figure 23), students were divided into two groups:

- 1. those who studied two or three KLAs (defined as specialising students), and
- 2. those who studied four or more KLAs (defined as students with a broader study pattern).

Both groups exhibit the same general trend shown in Figure 10: 4th IEO quartile students fail at a slightly higher rate than lower-IEO students with the same ATAR. For students with ATARs above 90, there is a small difference in pass/fail rate and resulting average GPA between the two groups; however, for ATARs below 90, there are larger differences between them.

As ATARs decline, specialising students fail at higher rates and have a lower-average GPA than students with a broader study pattern. For students with the same ATAR, this trend is consistent across IEO quartiles. The cause of this trend is not known; however, students studying a broader range of HSC subjects may have an advantage in first-year university (as students are required to study a broad range of first-year subjects). More research in this area may be of value.





Figure 23: First-year outcomes by ATAR, number of key learning areas (KLAs) studied and IEO quartile.

In summary, the first-year outcomes shown in this section are more closely related to the individual students' ATAR and disadvantage profile than any variation caused by any interaction of disadvantage and the choice of subject level studied. Regardless of whether they experience any socio-economic disadvantages, students still generally select subjects according to their ability (as shown in section 2.3.4).

3.2 Exploring the impact of different factors on the ATAR and first-year GPA

3.2.1 XGBoost predictive model and SHAP value

In this section, we describe the machine learning techniques used to explore the impact of different types of disadvantage on students' academic performance in secondary and tertiary contexts. Specifically, ensembles tree predictive models were developed using XGBoost (Chen and Guestrin 2016) to predict students' academic performance using SES indices as features for training.

Decision tree models are classic yet powerful algorithms for solving classification or regression problems in the machine learning domain. This technique partitions the training dataset into subsets with binary splits on all branches according to certain splitting criteria. The partition approach is completed when the model is able to predict the output based on input data with acceptable accuracy. This type of prediction model takes its name from the way that the trained model resembles a tree with the start splitting point as its root.

XGBoost is a machine learning algorithm that is widely applied in machine learning projects. The algorithm implements gradient boosted decision trees. The benefit of using XGBoost is that it produces an importance score for each feature used in the model. The importance score indicates how useful the feature is in the construction of the decision trees within the model.



Thus, in our model, the importance of each SES index on students' academic performance could be inferred by its score.

To further interpret our trained XGBoost models in terms of feature importance and the relationships among its features, we applied the SHapley Additive exPlanations (SHAP), technique (Lundberg and Lee 2017). In this analysis, SHAP values are obtained by incorporating concepts from cooperative game theory. Given a set of players, cooperative game theory defines how to fairly distribute the payoff amongst all the players that are working in coordination. In the game, the independent input features are the players, and the payoff is the difference between the average prediction of the instance minus the average prediction of all instances. With this model design, we are able to calculate the SHAP value for each feature, which represents the change in the expected model prediction when conditioning on that feature. The calculation of SHAP value is a relatively complex process, but intuitively, the SHAP value explains the difference in the model prediction when the given feature was used versus when it was not.

To determine the impact of SES indices on different stages of academic achievement, we built two predictive XGBoost models and analysed them using the SHAP technique. The first model predicted Year 12 students' ATARs based on the following inputs: the students' demographic characteristics, their SES indices, the high school attended and subjects studied at school. The second model predicted these students' first-year university GPA using the same features from the first model, but with added inputs including the students' enrolled institution, field of study of the enrolled university course, students' ATARs and whether a scholarship was taken. The technical details in preparing the data and training these two models are described in section 7.2. The following sections will focus on comparing the importance of various features in the prediction of the ATAR and first-year GPA. We will also discuss the relationships between some of these features and how they contribute to the prediction of students' academic performance in high school and at university.

3.2.2 Overall effect of disadvantage and related features on the ATAR and firstyear GPA

After training the XGBoost models, SHAP values for all features were extracted to compare their importance. Figures 24 and 25 show the feature importance measured by the average absolute SHAP values of each feature. Note that a feature may have a positive or negative SHAP value which means it may positively or negatively impact the prediction result (this will be further explained below). Here, the focus is on the importance of features or the size of impact, so the absolute SHAP value of each feature is presented here. Additionally, the same feature would have different levels of impact on different students due to its interaction with other features when predicting students' results. Thus, the average absolute impact on all students is reported here to measure the importance of input features.

As Figure 24 shows, the highest level of English and the highest level of mathematics are the two most important features in predicting a student's ATAR. The values on the bar charts are the average absolute SHAP values. As the ATAR is normalised from its range of 0 to 99.95 to a range of 0 to 0.9995 in this analysis, we can think of the SHAP value as the average change in normalised ATAR as a result of being impacted by a particular feature. For instance, the highest level of English taken by the student at high school was found to affect 0.0754 (or 7.54 per cent) of normalised ATARs on average. Following the highest level of English and mathematics taken by the student, the next most important factor on the ATAR was school mean ATAR, with an average absolute SHAP value of 0.0461. Of the demographic and SES indices, gender and residential IEO rank were the most important features.

For comparison, the average absolute importance for the ATAR of the highest level of English studied (0.0754) is 6.5 times that of the average absolute importance of gender (0.0116) and 9 times that of residential IEO rank (0.0087). This finding is consistent with previous research showing some influence of SES and student's gender on academic performance in high school.

Other school-based factors (eg school type, school size, school's IEO) and subject-based factors (eg number of key learning areas, Category B subjects and extension subjects taken by the student) had medium impact on the ATAR.



Finally, school gender (ie whether school was single-sex or co-ed), remoteness of student's residence, and other individual's demographic characteristics, such as Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status, had the least impact on the ATAR. The effect of these features on the ATAR will be discussed further in later sections.

It is important to remember that studying higher levels of English or mathematics, or attending a school with a high mean ATAR, does not necessarily lead to a higher ATAR for the individual. As discussed in earlier sections and in prior research, students tend to select subjects according to academic ability, which may also extend to school selection. This finding simply reflects that students of higher academic ability tend to choose certain subjects and possibly schools. In the absence of any other available data, it is possible that subject and school selections could be loosely regarded as proxy measures for academic ability and family attitude or expectation towards educational achievement. Similarly, limitations associated with remoteness and resources could affect these choices. Also, these choices are time dependent and represent academic ability in the senior years of high school and first-year university. The effects of disadvantage factors over time have not been investigated here.





Average absolute SHAP value (ATAR)

In the model predicting first-year GPA, the ATAR emerged as the dominant feature. In our analysis, first-year GPA was normalised from a range of 0 to 7 to a range of 0 to 1. As Figure 25 shows, the ATAR was found to affect 0.0971 of normalised first-year GPA on average. In this case the ATAR now becomes a more direct measure of academic ability, replacing the proxy highest level of English and Mathematics choice seen previously in Figure 24. Following the ATAR, other features, in order of importance, were field of study of the enrolled university course and the enrolled university group. In our model, the field of study consisted of 12 categories and enrolled universities were classified into three groups: Go8 universities, metro universities and regional universities. Students may also select field of study and university



according to their academic ability in the same way HSC students select subjects and schools as previously discussed. These two features will be discussed further in section 3.2.6.

Compared to the model predicting students' ATARs, school mean ATAR and the highest level of mathematics played a less important role on first-year GPA – but still exerted medium impact; however, the highest level of English studied at high school had much less impact on first-year GPA than it had on students' ATARs.

Of the demographic and SES indices, gender and residential IEO rank continued to be the most important features; however, they were further down the rank of average absolute importance than in the ATAR model.

For comparison, the average absolute importance for GPA of the ATAR (0.0971) is 13 times that of gender (0.0074) and 26 times that of residential IEO rank (0.0038). Similar to the model predicting ATARs, other school- and subject-based factors showed medium impact on first-year GPA, while remoteness of student's residence and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status again showed little impact.

Finally, the presence of an equity scholarship had the least impact on first-year GPA, possibly because only a small proportion of students received this scholarship offer. Nonetheless, this group of students is of interest, and patterns identified in minority groups such as Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and equity scholarship students will be discussed in later sections.





Average absolute SHAP value (GPA)

The bar charts above demonstrate the importance of each feature within the predictive model; however, it remains to be seen how the distribution of input features affect the predicted variable, either positively or negatively. To this end, a summary plot of all features for each of the two models are shown in Figures 26 and 27.



On these charts, input features are sorted by their importance. For each feature, each dot represents a single student. The 'blotches' reflect the density of students with that particular SHAP value; that is, blotch thickness represents the number of students with that SHAP value on that feature. The x-axis value of a dot represents the impact of the feature for that student. Note that both positive and negative SHAP values are presented in the plot rather than the absolute values used previously in Figures 24 and 25. Finally, the colour of the dot represents the value of the feature for that student.

As Figure 24 shows, the highest level of English studied by the high school student had the highest importance for the ATAR. In Figure 26, a high value on this feature denotes that the student studied a higher level of English (eg English Extension 1 or 2) while a low value means that they studied a lower level English course (eg English Standard). The summary plot therefore shows a strong relationship between high level of English studied and positive impact on ATARs. The highest level of mathematics studied shows a similar pattern. It is worth noting that for some students, this is the most important feature affecting their ATAR.

School mean ATAR also has a strong positive relationship with the ATAR, although the magnitude of the impact from schools with low-mean ATAR (in the negative direction) appears to be greater than from schools with high-mean ATAR (in the positive direction); however, from the density distribution of this feature, we can see that school mean ATAR has more positive than negative impact on students' ATAR. We can also see that, from the gender feature, being female has a positive impact on ATAR whereas being male has a negative impact (females are denoted by a feature value of 0 (blue) and males by 1 (red)). This is reflected in females attaining higher average ATARs than males during the period that this data covers.

Residential IEO rank also has a positive relationship with the ATAR – higher ATARs corresponding to higher IEO ranks of the students' residences; however, as with school mean ATARs, the low residential IEO rank's impact on the ATAR is greater. Although some features have a low impact on ATARs overall (eg Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status or whether extension subjects other than English and mathematics were taken), they produced clear ATAR patterns. For instance, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status has a negative impact on ATARs for most students.





Figure 26: The summary plot of all features on the ATAR (*feature uses categorical values).

Figure 27 shows the summary plot of the model predicting first-year GPA. There is a strong positive relationship between the ATAR and first-year GPA. The ATAR was found to affect up to 0.4 of the normalised first-year GPA in both positive and negative directions. The next two factors with the largest impacts were the field of study and university group in which the student enrolled. Because these two features use categorical data, we cannot infer here whether they have a positive or negative effect on GPA. We will analyse them in detail in section 3.2.6.

School mean ATAR continues to exert a relatively large influence on first-year GPA; however, it has a negative effect on GPA. We will contrast the impact of school mean ATAR on ATAR and first-year GPA in section 3.2.4. Interestingly, compared with their impact on the ATAR, the highest level of mathematics and the number of KLAs studied have the opposite influence on first-year GPA for some students.

Lastly, although the equity scholarship has the least impact on GPA, the scholarship appears to have either a positive or negative impact, perhaps depending on other factors (eg the ATAR). Similarly, there are other features that have minor impacts on GPA, which we will discuss in the following sections.





Figure 27: The summary plot of all features on first-year GPA (*feature uses categorical values).

The ATAR is the dominant feature in predicting first-year GPA. A detailed dependence plot of the ATAR predicting first-year GPA is shown in Figure 28. More specifically, this dependence plot also shows the interaction effect between the ATAR and residential IEO rank on GPA. In this plot, each dot represents a first-year university student. The x-axis is their normalised ATAR value from 0 to 0.9995, representing their actual ATARs from 0 to 99.95. The colour of the dot represents the value of the student's residential IEO rank. The y-axis value is the impact of the students' ATAR on their first-year GPA, which is measured by the SHAP value.

The ATAR has a strong impact on GPA, which seems to strengthen as the ATAR increases; its impact increases dramatically when the ATAR is greater than approximately 90 (the normalised ATAR >0.9 on the plot). Depending on other features' contributions, the same ATAR for different students could have a different impact on their first-year GPA. On average, the ATAR has a positive impact on first-year GPA when it is greater than 80 and has a negative impact when it is less than 80. Additionally, the impact on first-year GPA becomes more varied among low-ATAR students, which suggests that, for these students, first-year GPA was affected more by factors other than the ATAR.

Both high and low residential IEO rank students are represented using different colours in the entire range of ATARs; however, there are fewer low residential IEO rank students among high ATARs. In contrast, for ATARs less than 60, low residential IEO rank students become the majority. This interactive effect shows that although the residential IEO has less impact on GPA than it has on the ATAR, through its interaction with the ATAR, it exerts an indirect influence on GPA.





Figure 28: The impact of the ATAR on first-year GPA interacted with residential IEO rank.

In summary, the order of importance for impact on both the ATAR and GPA is:

- 1. A student's ability (or its proxy measures) and subject/FOS choices have the highest importance for impact on the ATAR and GPA. HSC subject and university FOS choices are inherent in student ability as they are captured in the choices that students make based on their ability.
- School and university characteristics: these include school mean ATAR, school type, school size, school gender (for both the ATAR and GPA) and the university attended (for GPA only). The school and university attended is also partly influenced by disadvantaged factors.
- 3. Gender: while not strictly considered a disadvantage, being male has a significant negative impact on ATAR and GPA.
- 4. Individual student disadvantage factors and average school disadvantage factors: these include residential IEO rank, residential remoteness, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status for the individual, and school IEO rank, school disadvantage status and school remoteness for the school average. These factors are either directly derived from the individual student or are an aggregation of the students attending the school. Some of the average school factors represent school choices that are heavily influenced by a student's individual disadvantage factors or in some cases are completely out of the control of the individual (eg remoteness).

Note: Many of the choices mentioned above are time dependent and represent academic ability in the senior years of high school and first-year university. The effects of disadvantage factors over time has not been investigated here.



3.2.3 The effect of disadvantage on the ATAR and first-year GPA

The following sections contain detailed dependence plots, which show the impact of various factors on ATAR and GPA. The ATAR will be used as the secondary factor for analysis in the detailed dependence plots for impact on GPA, while school mean ATAR will be used for impact on the ATAR. Although the highest level of English and mathematics have a slightly higher impact on the ATAR than school mean ATAR (Figure 24), they are categorical factors with an arbitrary value (unlike a rank, which is continuous). As a result, they were not used as the secondary factor for analysis.

Figure 29a shows the impact of student's IEO rank and school mean ATAR on the student's ATAR with the magnitude of these impacts expressed as SHAP values. There is a clear positive relationship between student's IEO rank and its impact on the ATAR – higher IEO is associated with a positive impact on the ATAR. At the other extreme (IEO rank around 0.0), there is a subset of students whose low-IEO background has affected them more negatively than it has for other students (SHAP value as low as around -0.8).

High-IEO students generally attend schools with high mean ATARs, as high-performing schools (red) are more concentrated towards the top right area of Figure 29a; however, there are students from low-IEO backgrounds (normalised IEO rank below approximately 0.6) who attended high-performing schools. It appears that, for these students, attending a high-performing school has a negative impact on their ATARs, when they are compared with their peers of the same IEO rank who attended a low-performing school.

In contrast, the effect of a student's IEO rank on GPA is less apparent. Figure 29b shows the effects of a student's IEO rank and ATAR on GPA. Here, the differences in residential IEO rank do not appear to have a consistent effect on GPA. There is more variation at both extremes of IEO rank. That is, for students who came from very high- or very low-IEO backgrounds, having a low ATAR affected their GPAs more negatively than it would if they came from a middle-IEO background. This is consistent with the outcomes discussed in section 3.1.1 and shown in Figure 10 – that high-IEO students (particularly those with ATARs below 90) failed at slightly higher rates than lower-IEO students with the same ATAR.



Figure 29b: The impact of residential IEO rank and the ATAR on GPA.



Figure 30a shows the impact of residential remoteness and school mean ATAR on the ATAR. Residing in a major city has little effect on the ATAR, particularly if a student attended a school with a high mean ATAR (red).

As a student's residence becomes more remote, the effect on the ATAR becomes more varied (larger range of SHAP values) and generally more positive – particularly for students who attended schools with a higher mean ATAR. The slight positive impact on ATAR experienced by regional and remote students (Figure 30a) would be more than offset for most students by a stronger negative IEO effect (Figure 29a) due to the relationship between remoteness and lower-IEO status.



Figure 30b shows the impact of residential remoteness (during Year 12) and ATAR on GPA. Remoteness has, on average and by absolute values, a weak impact on ATAR and GPA (Figures 24 and 25); however, remoteness has a less positive impact on GPA than it does on the ATAR. Residing in a major city has a smaller effect on GPA than it does on the ATAR (as shown by the smaller range of SHAP values) and regional and remote students experience similar frequencies of positive and negative impact on GPA, regardless of their ATAR. Here, the regional and remote status is determined by where the student resided during Year 12. Their location of residence at the time of university enrolment has not been considered. Further research on the movement of regional and remote students between Year 12 and enrolling at university may be of value.

Figure 30a: The impact of remoteness and school mean ATAR on the ATAR.





Figures 31a and 31b show similar small negative impacts of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander (TSI) status on the ATAR and GPA respectively:

- Figure 31a shows that Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students who attend higher mean ATAR schools generally experience a negative impact on their ATAR, whereas
- Figure 31b shows that having a high ATAR has a slight neutral to positive impact on the GPA of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students but a lower ATAR has a negative impact on GPA.

This supports the outcomes shown in Figure 12: high-ATAR Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students slightly outperform high-ATAR non-Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students; however, this trend diminishes as ATAR declines.









Figure 32a shows the impact of gender and school mean ATAR on the ATAR, and Figure 32b shows the impact of gender and the ATAR on GPA. Being female has a positive impact on both the ATAR and GPA while being male has a negative impact on both the ATAR and GPA. Attending a high mean ATAR school lessens the impact of gender on the ATAR. Similarly, a high ATAR ameliorates the impact of gender on GPA.

Figure 13 in section 3.1.1 shows the outcomes of these trends – there is less difference in GPA between the genders for ATARs above 90; and high ATARs lessen the positive and negative impacts of gender on GPA (Figure 32b).

Figure 13 also shows a widening difference in GPA between the genders at lower ATARs, where the diverging impact on GPA of the different genders (positive for female and negative for male) is more salient.







To summarise:

- Academic ability has a greater impact on both the ATAR and GPA than disadvantage factors. Gender also has a greater impact on both the ATAR and GPA than other disadvantage factors.
- In general, while disadvantage factors impact both the ATAR and GPA, they have less impact on GPA than on the ATAR. Low-ATAR males, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander



students and outer-regional students, however, continue to experience larger negative impacts on both the ATAR and GPA.

- In effect, the ATAR is a snapshot in time with the impact of disadvantage factors on academic ability summarised in the ATAR.
- First-year university students perform at a level expected of their ATAR and are impacted less by disadvantage factors.

These findings suggest that any action to improve success rates for disadvantaged students should occur well before the end of secondary school.

3.2.4 The effect of high school on the ATAR and first-year GPA

As highlighted in section 2.3.3, there is a complicated relationship between disadvantage factors and the characteristics of the school attended. Figure 33a shows the impact of school mean ATAR on the ATAR and Figure 33b shows the impact of school mean ATAR and the ATAR on GPA.

A school mean ATAR above approximately 70 (0.7 in Figure 33a) has a positive impact on an individual student's ATAR, and, for a school mean ATAR below 40, this impact is both stronger and in a negative direction (Figure 33a).

Figure 33b shows this trend is reversed for GPA: a school mean ATAR above 70 generally has a small negative impact on GPA and a school mean ATAR below 70 has a slight positive impact on GPA. Figure 33b's ATAR colour scale (ie red is more positive than blue) shows that higher ATARs have a significantly more positive impact over and above the school mean ATAR. This is consistent with the outcomes discussed in section 3.1.2 and shown in Figure 17.

The reversal of the impact trend of school mean ATAR from ATAR to GPA may be caused by the similar factors discussed in section 3.1.1. That is, it is likely that, at higher mean ATAR schools, students are pushed harder and make more use of outside tuition. If this practice does not continue into first-year university, the gap would close in the same way that it does between higher- and lower-IEO students (discussed in section 3.1.1). More research in this area may be of value.

Figure 33a: The impact of school mean ATAR on the ATAR.





School type presents varying degrees of impact on both ATAR (Figure 34a) and GPA (Figure 34b). School type is a category, not a continuous measure, and, within each category, there is significant diversity of school characteristics which makes interpretation of results difficult.



The largest group (ie number of schools and students) is government non-selective schools (GVNS). GVNS schools tend to have a slight negative impact range on the ATAR and a neutral to slight positive impact range on GPA.

Government selective schools (GVSL) are possibly the most homogenous school category – in this group, all schools are medium to large in size, have high school mean ATARs and most students achieve high ATARs. GVSL is the only school group to have a positive impact range for both ATAR and GPA.

The two non-government catholic school groups – non-government catholic independent (NGCI) and non-government catholic systemic (NGCS) – show a slight positive impact range on ATAR and a slight negative impact range on GPA. The NGCI group has a less positive impact on the ATAR for students who attended a school with a higher mean ATAR and a less negative impact on GPA for higher-ATAR students.

Non-government other (NGOT) is a diverse group of independent schools that includes some very large, high-IEO schools and a significant number of small and/or lower-IEO schools. Unsurprisingly, NGOT has the largest impact ranges on the ATAR and GPA, both of which generally range from slightly positive to negative. The negative impact on the ATAR is stronger for low mean ATAR schools and slightly positive for high mean ATAR schools.







*School types: GVNS = Government non-selective; GVSL = Government selective; NGCI = Non-government Catholic independent; NGCS = Non-government Catholic systemic; NGOT = Non-government other; TAFE = TAFE.

School size has a varying impact on both ATAR (Figure 35a) and GPA (Figure 35b). Schools vary in size from 1 to 455 HSC students per year. In this plot, school size has been normalised to a range from 0 to 1. Most school sizes tend to have a slight positive to negative range of impact on both ATAR and GPA, which varies depending on the student. The smallest schools tend to have a more negative impact range on both the ATAR and GPA. School mean ATAR appears to have an inconsistent effect on the impact of school size on the ATAR (Figure 35a), which suggests that other individual school characteristics may be having an effect.





Figures 36a and 36b show the impact of school gender on the ATAR and GPA respectively. Coed schools (C) were found to have the smallest impact range on both the ATAR and GPA. The impact range on the ATAR is:

- slightly negative for higher mean ATAR co-ed schools
- very slightly positive for lower mean ATAR co-ed schools.

The impact range on GPA was slightly positive for all ATARs in this group.

The boys' school group (B) shows a net neutral impact range on the ATAR. The impact range on the ATAR is:

- slightly negative for higher mean ATAR boys' schools
- slightly positive for lower mean ATAR boys' schools.

The impact range on GPA was negative for all ATARs in this group.

In contrast, the girls' school group (G) shows broader impact ranges on the ATAR. The impact range on the ATAR is:

- slightly positive for higher mean ATAR girls' schools
- slightly more negative for lower mean ATAR girls' schools.

Overall, a girls' school has a slightly positive to negative impact range on an individual's ATAR and a neutral to negative impact range on GPAs for all ATARs; however, in general, the impact of school's gender on GPA is not as negative for girls' schools as it is for the boys' schools.

It is worth noting that over half of the schools with a mean ATAR over 80 are single gender schools with a majority of higher-IEO students. The school gender trends above are largely a product of the profile of the students that attend them.





Figure 36b: The impact of school gender and the ATAR on GPA.



School IEO rank (the average of attending students' IEO) has a small range of both positive and negative impacts on ATAR (Figure 37a). High IEO ranked schools (schools with average student IEO above approximately 65 (0.65 normalised)) tend to have high school mean ATARs which have no additional impact on the ATAR, whereas students who attended lower IEO ranked schools with high school mean ATARs experience a positive impact on their ATAR. This suggests that schools with an average student IEO rank below 65 and a higher mean ATAR have a more positive impact on the ATAR.

The impact of school IEO rank on GPA (Figure 37b) has a similarly small range of impacts that are in both positive and negative directions. The secondary impact of the ATAR on GPA is less clear – higher and lower ATARs have positive and negative impacts at different school IEO ranks, sometimes inverting the usual trend with higher ATARs having a negative impact on GPA.

In these plots, each school, represented by a vertical line of dots show the impact ranges experienced by students who attended that school. (All students who attend the same school are represented by a vertical line because they all have the same school IEO rank.) The impact range variations across schools suggest that other school characteristics may be having an effect.







Attending a school on the disadvantaged schools list (school disadvantage flag = yes) has an approximately equal positive and negative impact range on the ATAR (Figure 38a), regardless of school mean ATAR. In contrast, the impact on GPA (Figure 38b) ranges from neutral to negative – higher-ATAR students experience a more negative impact.



It is worth noting that during the period covered by this dataset, UAC awarded 'ATAR adjustments' (previously referred to as 'bonus points') to applicants who attended schools on the disadvantaged schools list (as part of the Educational Access Schemes). From 2019, with the availability of new data, this was changed so that students in the bottom quartile of residential IEO are now awarded ATAR adjustments. This change was introduced because it was recognised that not all students who attend disadvantaged schools are disadvantaged. Conversely, some disadvantaged students also attend non-disadvantaged schools. This decision is supported by the net neutral impact on the ATAR of attending a disadvantaged school (Figure 38a) and the negative impact on the ATAR for the lowest IEO quartile (Figure 29a).

Figure 38a: The impact of school disadvantage code and school mean ATAR on the ATAR.





Unsurprisingly, the impact of school remoteness on the ATAR (Figure 39a) and GPA (Figure 39b) are similar to the impacts of residential remoteness.

Attending a school in a major city has little impact on either the ATAR or GPA. Attending a regional or remote school tends to have a more positive impact range on students' ATAR but has a more negative impact range on students' GPA.

Attending a high mean ATAR school tends to have a narrower impact range on the ATAR than attending a lower mean ATAR school.

Attending a metropolitan school in combination with a higher ATAR affected students' GPA both slightly and negatively; whereas, for metropolitan school students with lower ATARs, GPA was impacted both slightly and positively.

Attending a regional/remote school in combination with a higher ATARs affected GPA positively, and for lower ATAR students, negatively.



Figure 39a: The impact of school remoteness and school mean ATAR on the ATAR.





In summary, most school factors (besides school mean ATAR) have a small impact on GPA and an even smaller impact on ATAR; however, there are a few minor factors (eg small school size) that have a larger, mostly negative, impact range on both ATAR and GPA. Attending a small school negatively affected some students, but not all.

Attending a regional/remote or disadvantaged school has a minor, persistent and negative impact on a student's GPA whereas average school IEO has no consistent impact on GPA. This suggests that the school's individual characteristics (eg school mean ATAR, size and school gender) have a greater impact on a student's ATAR and GPA than the average disadvantage characteristics of the students that attended the school (eg school mean IEO).

As discussed earlier, parents and guardians select schools for the student in their care; however, attending a school with a high mean ATAR does not guarantee a higher ATAR for the student. The diverse results of this analysis of school factors highlights the need to attend a school that suits the student. Although we use the ATAR and GPA as measures of student success, it is important to recognise that there are others, particularly if a student has no desire to progress to university. This highlights the need for a range of schooling options to fit students' needs.

3.2.5 The effect of subject choice on the ATAR and first-year GPA

The impact of studying the highest level of English (Figure 40a) and mathematics (Figure 41a) on a student's ATAR shows similar trends. Lower subject levels have a strong negative impact range, while higher subject levels have a strong positive impact range on the ATAR.

Attending a higher mean ATAR school reduced both the positive and negative impact the subject level had on a student's ATAR. This suggests that students attending lower mean ATAR schools gain a greater benefit by studying higher levels of English and mathematics than students attending high mean ATAR schools.

The impact of studying the highest level of English (Figure 40b) and mathematics (Figure 41b) on a student's university GPA shows similar trends. Research (Manny et al. 2020) shows that once the ATAR has been accounted for, the level of HSC English or mathematics studied has little effect on GPA. This is also evident in this analysis; that is, the impact that studying the highest level of English and mathematics has is much weaker on GPA than on the ATAR. This is also shown by the range of SHAP value scales on the ATAR and GPA plots, which is much larger for the former than the latter.



At higher subject levels, higher ATARs tend to have a more positive impact on GPA. For the same subject levels, lower ATARs have a more negative impact; however, for lower levels of English and mathematics, this is a) less clear and b) reverses for English as a Second Language where higher ATARs tend to have a more negative impact on GPA.



Figure 40b: The impact of the highest level of English and the ATAR on GPA.



Figure 41a: The impact of the highest level of mathematics and school mean ATAR on the ATAR.

Figure 41b: The impact of the highest level of mathematics and the ATAR on GPA.



Figure 42a shows the impact of HSC key learning areas (KLAs) on the ATAR. As discussed in section 3.1.3, studying subjects from two to three KLAs is considered as specialising, and studying subjects from four or more KLAs is considered as having a broader HSC study pattern.



As Figure 42a shows, specialising has a positive impact range on the ATAR while studying four to five KLAs has a narrower neutral to slightly negative impact range on the ATAR. Studying six KLAs has a broader impact range and students who attended a school with a lower mean ATAR experience a more positive impact.

Figure 42b shows the impact of the number of KLAs studied on GPA. The impact range clearly decreases and becomes more positive as the number of KLAs studied increases and the study pattern broadens – studying four KLAs has a narrow and neutral impact range. Figure 23 (section 3.1.3) reflects this trend and shows that students who specialise for the HSC tend to fail first-year subjects at a slightly higher rate, and as a result, have a lower GPA than students who studied more KLAs.







Students who studied Category B subjects experienced a negative impact range on their ATAR (Figure 43a), as opposed to students who did not. For these students, school mean ATAR made little difference to the impact range; however, for students who attended a low mean ATAR rather than a high mean ATAR school, not studying a Category B subject had a slightly more positive impact on their ATAR.

Students who did not study a Category B subject experienced a very narrow, neutral impact range on GPA (Figure 43b), particularly if they had a higher ATAR. Students who studied a Category B subject experienced a wider, neutral to slightly negative impact range on GPA, regardless of the ATAR.



Figure 43b: The impact of studying Category B subjects and the ATAR on GPA.





Studying extension subjects – except for those in English and mathematics – shows a broad, positive impact range on the ATAR (Figure 44a), particularly for students who attended a lower mean ATAR school. This observation is consistent with the following finding: students achieve better results by studying HSC subjects that they are good at and are engaged with. For GPA, however, this impact tends to reverse (Figure 44b) – these students, especially those with a lower ATAR, experience a neutral to negative impact.



Figure 44b: The impact of studying other extension subjects and the ATAR on GPA.



In summary, specialising for the HSC (ie studying two or three KLAs, often including extension subjects) generally has a positive impact range on a student's ATAR, but a negative impact range on GPA.

In contrast, a broader HSC study pattern (ie studying four or more KLAs) has a slight negative impact on the ATAR but a more positive impact on GPA. Presumably, students who specialise, study subjects they are good at or more engaged with, and as a result, expect better marks. Conversely, studying a broader range of HSC subjects may provide an advantage in first-year university, as these students may have a prior introduction to more first-year subjects.

Studying a Category B subject, which by default increases the number of KLAs studied, has a negative impact on the ATAR; however, it does not appear to provide the same positive impact range on GPA as choosing a broader study pattern. Category B subjects are vocationally-oriented and bear little relation to university subjects, so they would not provide the same introduction to first-year subjects as academically-oriented Category A subjects.

As discussed in section 2.3.4, the number of KLAs studied is more closely linked to the tendency for more academically-oriented students to specialise than it is to any disadvantage factors. As such, this should not adversely affect disadvantaged students if they have access to the required subjects, so they can specialise if desired. Limited access to subjects appears to be an issue only for students who attend small schools (discussed in section 2.3.3), that is, lower-IEO, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander, and regional and remote students.

It is important to remember that, for the individual, studying certain subjects does not necessarily lead to a higher ATAR or GPA. As discussed in earlier sections and in prior research, students, including those with higher academic ability, tend to select subjects according to their academic level (Manny et al. 2020).

3.2.6 The effect of university, field of study and scholarship on first-year GPA

After the ATAR, a university course's field of study (FOS) was found to have the largest average absolute SHAP value for impact on GPA (Figure 25). Figure 45 shows the variance in impact range that FOS and ATAR have on GPA. Architecture, Education and Creative Arts have positive impact ranges on GPA, while Engineering, and Management and Commerce have



negative impact ranges. On average, Science, IT, Agriculture, Health, and Society and Culture have neutral impacts on GPA (with roughly equal positive and negative impact ranges).

Generally, a higher ATAR has a more positive impact on GPA than a lower ATAR, with some exceptions – for Creative Arts, Society and Culture, and Health, the trend appears to be reversed. Prior research has found that, while the ATAR is a good measure for academic ability, it is not the best measure for creativity. Compared with other FOS, Creative Arts students have the lowest correlation between ATAR and GPA (Manny et al. 2020). High-ATAR Health, and Society and Culture FOS students would most likely enrol in more competitive degrees (eg medicine and law). Consequently, these competitive degrees would, in terms of academic ability, have homogenous candidatures, thus masking any impacts ATAR might have on GPA. There does not appear to be any significant relationship between FOS preferences of the different IEO quartiles discussed in section 2.3.1 (Table 1) and impact on GPA by FOS.





Figure 46 shows the impact range on a student's GPA by university attended:

- regional universities: slightly negative to moderately positive
- metro universities: neutral to moderately positive
- Go8 universities: neutral to moderately negative.



For all university types, a higher ATAR has a more positive impact on GPA than a lower ATAR, which is consistent with the student outcomes shown in Figure 14. This may relate to the average ATAR of students to which certain types of universities offer a place (as discussed in section 3.1.1).

As discussed, students' selection of school and HSC subjects is largely based on academic ability and personal preference – this likely continues into selection of university, degree and FOS. Students with higher ATARs tend to enrol in universities and degrees with higher entry requirements, often referred to as 'spending' an ATAR. Just as parents or guardians select schools, students select universities with a 'good reputation'.



Figure 46: The impact of university and the ATAR on GPA.

Figure 47 shows the impact of receiving an equity scholarship and the ATAR on GPA. Equity scholarships tend to have impacts that range from moderately positive to slightly negative.

Generally, receiving an equity scholarship has a more positive than negative impact on GPA, and, particularly when benefit is measured by pass/fail rates, for lower-ATAR students than high-ATAR students (Figure 16 in section 3.1.1). Equity scholarship details were unavailable so further investigation was not possible; however, it may be of value.







3.2.7 The effect of multiple disadvantages on the ATAR and first-year GPA

Some students experience multiple co-existing disadvantages. Figure 48a shows the impact of residential IEO on the ATAR with interaction effects for Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander status. The colour of each dot represents the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status (purple and pink) of the student.

There are two distinct groups of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students at the upper and lower extremities of the impact ranges for each residential IEO (Figure 48a). Residential IEO rank has a lower impact on the group predominately scattered along the top of the plot than most non-Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders of the same residential IEO rank.

The second group is particularly evident in the bottom left corner and is found along the plot's lower extremity. Residential IEO rank has a stronger negative impact on the ATAR for these low-SES, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students than most non-Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islanders of the same rank.

Figure 48b shows the impact of residential IEO and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status on GPA. In this case, the impact for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students is not as polarised because this group is far more evenly dispersed than in Figure 48a. It is possible that university support programs, which are aimed at mid-range residential IEO and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students, have a slight positive impact on GPA. It appears that many of the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander ATAR students in the bottom left corner of Figure 48a did not progress to university as there are less of these students in Figure 48b's corresponding vertical range.

The polarisation trend shown in Figure 48a suggests that there is at least one other influential factor involved (possibly remoteness) that has an impact on the ATAR of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students. More research into these effects may be of value.





Figures 49a and 49b show the impact of residential IEO on the ATAR and GPA respectively. In this plot, residential IEO rank has been normalised from a range of 1 to 100, to 0.01 to 1.00; the colour of the dots represent residential remoteness status. The impact of residential IEO by remoteness status on the ATAR is much less polarised in Figure 49a than in Figure 48a (by Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander status); however, Figure 49a still shows small impact range clusters along the upper and lower extremities at some residential IEO ranks.

In contrast, Figure 49b shows that residential IEO rank has a stronger negative impact on GPA for lower-SES, more remote students than metropolitan students (bottom left corner).



Figure 49b: The impact of residential IEO and remoteness on GPA.





4 Conclusions

Inequality in educational outcomes between advantaged and disadvantaged groups has been well documented; however, much of the published literature on disadvantage and education is limited by the data available.

The definition of 'disadvantage' is often determined by available data and is therefore inconsistent across different studies. Furthermore, most research has focused on each disadvantage independently without accounting for the interactions between them.

In this analysis, we have investigated the complex relationships between three types of disadvantage and their impact on school and university achievement: low SES, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status, and remoteness of residence (plus other related school-based factors).

Although we use the ATAR and GPA as measures of a student's success, it is important to recognise that there are others, particularly if a student has no desire to progress to university.

As published literature and our data clearly show, students from disadvantaged backgrounds who progress to Year 12 attain (on average) a lower ATAR and enrol at university at lower rates than students from non-disadvantaged backgrounds. However, we need to consider the dominant factor in university success – the ATAR. As prior research shows, once we consider the ATAR these progression trends reverse – lower SES students enrol at higher rates than higher SES students with the same ATAR. Furthermore, university students from a disadvantaged background generally slightly outperform those from a non-disadvantaged background with the same ATAR.

Note: The ATAR's dominance as a predictor of university success is unsurprising and it remains the best measure of academic ability available for use in university admissions. It is important to recognise that the ATAR is only a snapshot in time and that there are many other potential pathways to university.

Disadvantage factors often co-exist. Students who experience one form of disadvantage are likely to experience others (eg compared with metropolitan students, a higher proportion of remote students are also Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and/or of low SES). We used machine learning techniques to determine the degree to which the various forms of disadvantage and related factors impact both the ATAR and GPA.

We examined the average absolute impact of the following factors on the ATAR and GPA (listed in order of importance):

- 1. academic ability or proxy measure for ability (eg level of HSC subject)
- school- or university-related factors (eg high school size and location, university course field of study). These factors (or choices) can be a proxy measure for ability and/or family attitude towards education, and may also be affected by other disadvantage factors.
- 3. gender
- 4. other factors (eg residential IEO rank, residential remoteness, and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status).

Note: We used senior secondary school and first-year university results in this analysis. While disadvantages likely contribute to a student's academic achievement prior to this period, they have not been investigated here. Similarly, disadvantages may prevent students from progressing to Year 12; however, we have not included these students in our data set. Disadvantages may also affect the choice of school or university attended.

The highest level of English and mathematics studied and school mean ATAR have the greatest impact on a student's ATAR. Other factors, including disadvantage measures, have significantly



less impact. Subject and school choice can be considered a proxy measure for academic ability and the expectations that a student's family or support network have of education. (Other factors such as remoteness and limited social/economic resources may also affect these choices.)

In our analysis of university success as measured by GPA, we found that the ATAR has the greatest impact, while all other factors have relatively smaller impacts. Gender impacts both the ATAR and GPA more than other disadvantage factors. Figures 24 and 25 (section 3.2.2) show the absolute impact that all disadvantage factors have on the ATAR and GPA.

The impact and implications of disadvantage on university outcomes are summarised below:

- Socio-economic status

- University outcomes: First-year university students largely perform to a level expected of their ATAR, regardless of SES. For students with ATARs over 90, there is very little difference in pass/fail rates or first-year GPA, regardless of IEO status; however, as ATARs decline, 4th IEO quartile students begin to fail at a slightly higher rate when compared with lower-IEO quartile students with the same ATAR. This effect peaks for students with ATARs in the 60s and 70s and reduces at ATARs below 60.
- Impacts: Socio-economic status has a relatively small impact on ATAR and GPA. On average, the ATAR is impacted less by SES than by proxy factors related to academic ability (eg subject choice). SES impacts GPA less than it does the ATAR.
- Implications: Students perform to a level expected of their ATAR and disadvantage has relatively little impact, which suggests that disadvantage adversely affects the student prior to senior secondary school and university. Therefore, programs and policies to improve outcomes for disadvantaged students would be beneficial if implemented prior to senior secondary schooling. Lower-SES students tend to slightly outperform their higher-SES peers with the same ATAR, so it appears that equity programs are of value.

- Remoteness of residence

- University outcomes: First-year university students largely perform to a level expected of their ATAR, regardless of remoteness status; however, as ATARs decline, students from major cities fail subjects at a slightly higher rate than regional students with the same ATAR. This is most likely influenced by the greater proportion of higher-SES students who reside in major cities.
- Impacts: Remoteness of residence has a relatively small impact on the ATAR and GPA.
- Implications: Remoteness of residence has the strongest effect on choice of school and university, and possibly HSC subjects. Most remote students attend small schools so it is essential that adequate resources are available to cater for a wide range of subject choices. Remote areas have a higher proportion of low-SES and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students so the effects of disadvantage can be magnified and should be considered in policy formulation.



- Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status

- University outcomes: In first-year university, Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students generally perform to a level expected of their ATAR, but slightly outperform non-Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students with the same ATAR. This is related to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students being more likely to belong to lower SES-quartiles and live in more remote regions, as the latter two groups were also found to slightly outperform their higher SES and metro region counterparts.
- **Impacts:** Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status has a relatively small impact on the ATAR and GPA.
- Implications: Positive university outcomes for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students suggest that current measures taken to assist this group are having the desired impact. A high proportion of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students are also lower SES and live in remote regions so would benefit from policies that improve success for low-SES and remote students.

- Gender

- University outcomes: Both genders display similar trends by ATAR and SES quartile; however, as ATARs decline, male students fail at higher rates than female students with the same ATAR.
- Impacts: Gender has a higher impact on the ATAR and GPA than any other disadvantage. Gender status negatively impacts male students and positively impacts female students in both the ATAR and GPA.
- Implications: Progression rates and outcomes are consistently lower for males than for females in both the ATAR and GPA, so male gender status could be considered an educational disadvantage. Further investigation into the causes of gender-related differences in educational outcomes may be beneficial.

Equity scholarships

- University outcomes: Equity scholarship recipients do not necessarily perform to a level above that is expected of their ATAR; however, they fail fewer subjects than non-recipients, so it appears they are more resilient or motivated to complete first-year university.
- **Impacts:** Equity scholarships generally have a more positive impact on GPA for recipients with lower ATARs than higher ATARs.
- Implications: Equity scholarships appear to have a positive effect on recipients' outcomes, particularly for students with an ATAR between 60 and 90. Providing more scholarships that target students in, for example, fields of study or courses within this ATAR range, could improve outcomes. Generally, equity scholarships appear to have a positive effect on pass/fail rates, which should lead to shorter completion times and, presumably, lower student debt on completion.



- School factors

- University outcomes: First-year university outcomes are largely driven by the ATAR and disadvantage profile of the student rather than the disadvantage profile of the school they attended.
- Impacts: School mean ATAR has a strong impact on the ATAR and a moderate impact on GPA. All other school factors have small impacts on the ATAR and GPA. A small school's size, however, has a greater negative impact on ATAR and GPA than medium or larger schools, and regional or remote schools' locations have a slight negative impact on GPA. Other school characteristics (eg school mean ATAR, size and student gender) have a greater impact on a student's ATAR and GPA than the average SES of its students (school's mean IEO).
- Implications: Selecting a school to suit the student is important; however, a school's high mean ATAR does not guarantee a high ATAR for each student. Disadvantage factors may also influence a student's choice of school, which may in turn impact outcomes.

- Subject choice at secondary school

- University outcomes: Students tend to select HSC subjects according to their ability, regardless of any disadvantage they may have. First-year university outcomes are more closely related to the students' ATAR and disadvantage profile than any interaction between disadvantage and the subject level studied.
- Impacts: Any advantage that a student's subject level selection has on the ATAR is reversed in the GPA. This is not the case for selection of Category B subjects.
- Implications: Subject choice has little effect on a student's success provided a student has access to their choice of appropriate HSC subjects. That is, students choose subjects that they are good at and are engaged with and are at the highest level they can comfortably attempt. Studying a particular subject does not guarantee a higher ATAR but may prepare a student for university. School's limited capacity to offer certain subjects does not appear to be a substantial issue generally; however, this may be an issue for some small schools.

- University and FOS

- University outcomes: Students who attend the same type of university tend to perform at the same level expected of their ATAR, regardless of disadvantage; however, that level is dependent on university type (as discussed in section 3.1.1).
- Impacts: University choice and FOS have a moderate impact on GPA.
- Implications: Similar to HSC subject selection, students tend to select university and FOS based on their academic ability – disadvantage factors have little influence. Ensuring students have adequate choice in university and FOS appropriate to their academic ability is important in achieving educational success. This includes pathway courses to prepare lower ATAR students for a bachelor degree if required.



- Other factors not considered

We have not considered the following factors in this analysis because there was no data or method of measurement available. These factors, some loosely related to proxy measures, may be heavily influenced, both positively and negatively, by the student's co-existing disadvantages. These include:

- Cognitive ability: We used the ATAR and GPA as measures of academic ability. In educational psychology, it is widely acknowledged that a student's cognitive ability underpins academic performance (eg Rohde and Thompson (2007)). Here, cognitive ability refers to the mental capabilities required in reasoning, problem solving and the processing and manipulation of information, and encompasses mental functions including memory, attention and perception. The effect of disadvantage on cognitive or academic ability in the years prior to senior secondary school is outside our research scope.
- Non-cognitive factors: These include a student's resilience, motivation, learning style and attitudes towards learning. Although it is assumed that the ATAR and GPA capture these factors, we have not measured them directly in this study. Additionally, each student's situation is unique and some face personal hardships that we have not measured (eg illness, relationship difficulties etc). Presumably, students require high levels of resilience and motivation to counteract these setbacks, but these topics are beyond the scope of this analysis.
- The extent to which the student and their support network values education and the weight of expectation to succeed: These factors are closely related to resilience and motivation and can have both a positive and negative effect (eg ranges from 'your education is the most valuable thing you have' and 'I want you to have more opportunity than I had' to 'I didn't go to uni and I turned out fine' and 'none of my friends are going to uni'). The attitude of a student's support network (whether stated explicitly or not) can lead to expectations of success. For some students, the transition from school is marked by an expectation that they will work to their academic ability, and, once at university, students are given more personal responsibility for their own outcomes. Having to repay an equity scholarship if they fail may create a weight of expectation on the recipient. It is unclear how these issues interact with disadvantages.

Academic ability is the biggest influence on success at university, regardless of disadvantage. Students, their caregivers and support networks make many choices as they navigate education. Because each student is unique, support and a range of options (eg subjects they wish to study or a school they'd like to attend) is essential so that students can achieve their potential.

Disadvantage can limit a student's options and these limitations have, sometimes negative, impacts on their educational outcomes. However, it is worth emphasising that some factors examined in this analysis are at the aggregated level (eg school characteristics are made up of data from individual students); therefore, the impact of these factors on educational outcomes may not accurately reflect an individual's characteristics. A school or subject *must* be selected to suit the student.

We have focused only on the period from senior secondary school to first-year university in this analysis and have excluded any prior effects of disadvantage. Fortunately, only limited evidence suggests that disadvantage factors undermine success for students during this transitional period. On average, disadvantaged students achieve slightly better outcomes than their non-disadvantaged peers with the same academic ability and it appears that programs that assist disadvantaged students facilitate these successful outcomes.



- Policy recommendations

- The effects of disadvantage on academic ability are entrenched by Year 12 with only minimal further influence at university (Sections 3.1.1 and 3.2.3).
 Policies that target improving academic outcomes at earlier stages of education would flow through to better outcomes for disadvantaged students in Year 12 and at university.
- The ATAR, as a summary measure of academic achievement, is the most accurate predictor for success at university. The ATAR (or a proxy measure for academic ability) should continue to be used for university admissions, including for disadvantaged students (Sections 3.1.1 and 3.2.2). Greater use of pathway courses to facilitate the successful transition to university would improve outcomes for disadvantaged students.
- Expansion of equity scholarship programs would improve retention and completion rates for a greater number of disadvantaged university students. Targeting courses that attract students with ATARs between 60 and 90 would provide the best results (Sections 3.1.1 and 3.2.6). This could be extended to the provision of equity scholarships for pathway courses. Equity programs in general appear to have a positive effect on the outcomes of students and so should be expanded.
- The average underperformance of male students at both Year 12 and university levels needs further investigation to determine the cause and possible actions (Section 3.1.1 and 3.2.3).
- The complex interaction of the different disadvantages needs to be considered when formulating policy (eg policy to improve the outcomes of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander students should also consider their varying SES and regional status and be tailored accordingly – Section 3.2.7).
- Subject availability needs to be ensured for students, especially those who attend small schools (this mostly affects regional and remote students – Section 3.2.5).



5 References

Anderton RS (2017) 'Identifying factors that contribute to academic success in first year allied health and science degrees at an Australian University', Australian Journal of Education, 61(2):184-199, doi:0.1177/0004944117713321.

Angrist J, Lang D, and Oreopoulos P (2009) 'Incentives and Services for College Achievement: Evidence from a Randomized Trial', American Economic Journal: Applied Economics, 1 (1): 136-63, doi:10.1257/app.1.1.136

Birch E and Miller P (2006) 'Student Outcomes at University in Australia: A Quantile Regression Approach', Australian Economic Papers, 45(1):1-17, doi:10.1111/j.1467-8454.2006.00274.x.

Bradley review - Bradley D, Noonan P, Nugent H and Scales B (2008) 'Review of Australian higher education: final report', Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations (DEEWR), Australian Government, Canberra, A.C.T.

Chen T and Guestrin C (2016) 'XGBoost: A scalable tree boosting system' [conference presentation], Proc. of KDD'16., 2016, San Francisco, pp. 785–794, accessed 12 February 2021, doi:10.1145/2939672.2939785.

Dobson IR and Birrell B (2017 online, 1998 orig) 'Equity and university entrance, a 1997 update', People and place, 6(3): 83-87, Monash University, doi:10.4225/03/590ac1f4453b4.

Dynarski S (2008) 'Building the Stock of College-Educated Labor', The Journal of Human Resources, 43(3): 576-610.

Harrison KJ and Hyndman RJ (2015) 'Modelling the participation function with a one-parameter family of cubic splines', Report to ACTAC ITI technical committee. https://robjhyndman.com/publications/cubicsplinesiti/

Koshy P (2019) 'Equity student participation in Australian Higher Education: 2013-2018 [pdf 815KB]', National Centre for Student Equity in Higher Education (NCSEHE), Perth: Curtin University. https://www.ncsehe.edu.au/publications/briefing-note-equity-student-participation-in-australian-higher-education-2013-2018/

Lamb S, Jackson J, Walstab A and Huo S (2015) 'Educational opportunity in Australia 2015: Who succeeds and who misses out', Centre for International Research on Education Systems, Victoria University, for the Mitchell Institute, Melbourne: Mitchell Institute, https://www.vu.edu.au/mitchell-institute/educational-opportunity/educational-opportunity-inaustralia-2015-who-succeeds-who-misses-out

Li IW and Dockery AM (2014), 'Socio-economic Status of Schools and University Academic Performance: Implications for Australia's Higher Education Expansion [pdf 214KB]', National Centre for Student Equity in Higher Education (NCSEHE), Perth: Curtin University. https://www.ncsehe.edu.au/publications/socio-economic-status-of-schools-university-academicperformance/

Lim P and Gemici S (2011) 'Measuring the socioeconomic status of Australian youth', The National Centre for Vocational Education Research (NCVER), Adelaide.

Lundberg SM and Lee SI (2017) 'A unified approach to interpreting model predictions' [conference presentation], Proc. Adv. Neural Inf. Process. Syst., 2017, Long Beach, pp. 4768–4777 accessed 12 February 2021, doi: 10.5555/3295222.3295230.

Manny A, Tam H, Lipka R and Zhizhou Y (2020) 'Data analysis: the impact of senior secondary study choices on success at university', Universities Admission Centre (UAC), accessed 12 February 2021. https://www.uac.edu.au/submissions-and-reports/data-analysis-the-impact-of-senior-secondary-study-choices-on-success-at-university



Manny A (2020) 'Socio-economic status and the ATAR', UAC, accessed 12 February 2021. https://www.uac.edu.au/submissions-and-reports/socio-economic-status-and-the-atar

Messinis G and Sheehan P (2015) 'The academic performance of first year students at Victoria University by entry score and SES, 2009-2013 [pdf 1.48MB]', Victoria Institute of Strategic Economic Studies, Victoria University, Melbourne.

https://www.vu.edu.au/sites/default/files/cses/pdfs/the-academic-performance-of-first-year-students-at-VU-by-entry-score-and-SES-2009-2013.pdf

Norton A, Cherastidtham I and Mackey W (2018) 'Dropping out: the benefit and costs of trying university [pdf 5.0MB]', Grattan Institute. https://grattan.edu.au/report/dropping-out/

Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (2010) 'The high cost of low educational performance: The long-run economic impact of improving PISA outcomes [pdf 2.9MB]', OECD publishing, Paris.

http://www.oecd.org/education/school/programmeforinternationalstudentassessmentpisa/thehig hcostofloweducationalperformance.htm

Perry LB (2018) 'Educational inequality in Australia, In: How unequal? Insights into inequality [pdf 145KB]', Committee for Economic Development of Australia, pages 56 to 67. https://www.ceda.com.au/ResearchAndPolicies/Research/Population/How-unequal-Insights-on-inequality

Productivity Commission (2019) 'The Demand Driven University System: A Mixed Report Card', Commission Research Paper, Australian Government, Canberra, A.C.T.

Reed RJ and Hurd B (2016) 'A value beyond money? Assessing the impact of equity scholarships: from access to success', Studies in Higher Education, 41(7): 1236-1250, doi:10.1080/03075079.2014.968541.

Rohde TE and Thompson LA (2007) 'Predicting academic achievement with cognitive ability', Intelligence, 35(1): 83–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intell.2006.05.004.

Rothman S (21-25 April 2003) 'The changing influence of socioeconomic status on student achievement: Recent evidence from Australia', [conference presentation], American Educational Research Association, Chicago, accessed 7 June 2020. https://research.acer.edu.au/lsay_conference/3

Sirin SR (2005) 'Socioeconomic Status and Academic Achievement: A Meta-Analytic Review of Research', Review of Educational Research Fall 2005, 75(3):417–453.

Sneyers E, Agasisti T, De Witte K, Graziosi G (2016) 'The impact of scholarships on students' performance: a study on five Italian universities [pdf 1.4MB]', Dipartimento di Scienze Economiche, Aziendali, Matematiche e Statistiche "Bruno de Finetti" (DEAMS), DEAMS Research Paper 1/2016, Edizioni Università di Trieste, Trieste. https://www.openstarts.units.it/handle/10077/12765

Thomson S (ed.) (2018) 'Achievement at school and socioeconomic background—an educational perspective', npj Science of Learning (2018) 3(5), doi:10.1038/s41539-018-0022-0.

Walker-Gibbs B, Ajjawi R, Rowe E, Skourdoumbis A, Thomas MKE, O'Shea S, Bennett S, Fox B and Alsen P (2019) 'Success and failure in higher education on uneven playing fields [pdf 833KB]', National Centre for Student Equity in Higher Education (NCSEHE), Perth: Curtin University. https://www.ncsehe.edu.au/publications/success-failure-higher-education-uneven-playing-fields/

Zacharias N and Ryan J (2020) 'Moving beyond 'acts of faith': effective scholarships for equity students', Journal of Higher Education Policy and Management, doi:10.1080/1360080X.2020.1777499.


6 Further reading

ACIL Allen Consulting (2017) 'Report to Department of Education and Training: Evaluation of the HEPPP: Higher Education Participation and Partnerships Program [pdf 3.1MB]', Melbourne. https://www.dese.gov.au/uncategorised/resources/heppp-evaluation-final-report

Australia. Department of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations (2009) Transforming Australia's higher education system, Dept. of Education, Employment and Workplace Relations, Australian Government, Canberra, A.C.T.

Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority (ACARA) (2014) 'Index of Community Socio-Educational Advantage (ICSEA) 2013: Technical Report [pdf 877KB]', https://www.myschool.edu.au/technical-and-statistical-information

Bettinger E (2015) 'Need-Based Aid and College Persistence: The Effects of the Ohio College Opportunity Grant', Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 37(1S):102S-119S.

Craft JA (2019) 'Academic Performance of Low SES Students at an Australian University Satellite Campus', Studies in higher education (Dorchester-on-Thames) 44(8):1372–1385, doi:10.1080/03075079.2018.1440382.

Department of Education, Skills and Employment (n.d.) 'Students from low socio-economic areas', DESE website, accessed 10 August 2020.

Devlin M (2013) 'Bridging socio-cultural incongruity: conceptualising the success of students from low socio-economic status backgrounds in Australian higher education', Studies in Higher Education, 38(6):939-949, doi:10.1080/03075079.2011.613991.

Goss P, Emslie O, and Sonnemann J (2018) 'Measuring student progress: A state-by-state report card – Technical Report [pdf 581KB]', Grattan Institute. https://grattan.edu.au/report/measuring-student-progress/

Goss P, Emslie O, and Sonnemann J (2018) 'Measuring student progress: A state-by-state report card [pdf 7.7MB]', Grattan Institute. https://grattan.edu.au/report/measuring-student-progress/

Haidinger G, Frischenschlager O, and Mitterauer L (2005) 'Prediction of Success in the First-Year Exam in the Study of Medicine – a Prospective Survey', Wiener klinische Wochenschrift 117(23-24): 827–832, doi:10.1007/s00508-005-0477-x.

Higher Education Standards Panel (2017) 'Final Report - Improving retention, completion and success in higher education [pdf 1.3MB]', Department of Education and Training, Australian Government, A.C.T. https://www.dese.gov.au/uncategorised/resources/higher-education-standards-panel-final-report-improving-retention-completion-and-success-higher

Jones S, Pampaka M, Swain D and Skyrme J (2017) 'Contextualising degree-level achievement: an exploration of interactions between gender, ethnicity, socio-economic status and school type at one large UK university', Research in Post-Compulsory Education, 22(4):455-476, doi:10.1080/13596748.2017.1381287.

Klerk D, Spark L, Jones A and Maleswena T (2017) 'Paving the Road to Success: Reflecting critically on year one of an undergraduate student support programme at a large South African university', Journal of Student Affairs in Africa, 5(1):1-13, doi:10.24085/jsaa.v5i1.2478.

Knipe S (2013) 'University Course Completion and ATAR Scores: Is there a Connection?', Journal of Educational Enquiry, 12(1): 25-39.

Lalloué B, Deguen S, Monnez J, Padilla C, Kihal W, Zmirou-Navier D and Le Meur N (2015) 'SesIndexCreatoR: An R package for socioeconomic indices computation and visualization', Open Journal of Statistics, 5(4):291-302, doi:10.4236/ojs.2015.54031.



Li S, Xu Q and Xia R (2020) 'Relationship Between SES and Academic Achievement of Junior High School Students in China: The Mediating Effect of Self-Concept', Front. Psychol. vol10 (article2513), doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02513.

Lu, L., & Rickard, K (2014) 'Value added models for NSW government schools [pdf 2.3MB]', Centre for Education Statistics and Evaluation (CESE), NSW Department of Education and Communities, Sydney, Australia. https://www.cese.nsw.gov.au/publications-filter/value-addedmodels-for-nsw-government-schools

Marks GN (2017) Aust. Educ. Res., 44:191–211, doi:10.1007/s13384-016-0219-2.

Minister for Education (14 July 2020) 'Investment in regional, remote education passes \$1 billion', Australian Government, accessed 15 July 2020, https://ministers.dese.gov.au/tehan/investment-regional-remote-education-passes-1-billion

Ng F, Shirley D, Willis K, Lewis S, and Lincoln M (2015) 'The E12 experience: Students' perceptions of a widening participation scheme', The International Journal of the First Year in Higher Education, 6(1):35-47, doi:10.5204/intjfyhe.v6i1.260.

Roberts P, Dean J, and Lommatsch G (2019) 'Still Winning? Social Inequity in the NSW Senior Secondary Curriculum Hierarchy [pdf 3.2 MB]', Rural Education and Communities research group, University of Canberra. Centre for Sustainable Communities Monograph Series No.1. https://researchprofiles.canberra.edu.au/en/publications/still-winning-social-inequity-in-the-nsw-senior-secondary-curricu

Superby JF, Vandamme JP, Meskens N (n.d.) 'Determination of factors influencing the achievement of the first-year university students using data mining methods [pdf 320KB]', Production and Operations Management. https://www.educationaldatamining.org/ITS2006EDM/superby.pdf

Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency (TEQSA) (2017) 'Characteristics of Australian higher education providers and their relation to first-year student attrition – June 2017 [pdf 721KB]', Australian Government, A.C.T. https://www.teqsa.gov.au/for-providers/resources/characteristics-australian-higher-education-providers-and-their-relation

Vyas S and Kumaranayake L (2006) 'Constructing Socio-Economic Status Indices: How to Use Principal Components Analysis', Health Policy and Planning, 21(6):459–468, doi:10.1093/heapol/czl029.



7 Appendix

7.1 First-year outcomes by school factors

Figure 50: First-year outcomes by ATAR and school size.











Figure 52: First year outcomes by ATAR and school type* (small samples removed).

*School types: GVNS = Government non-selective; GVSL = Government selective; NGCI = Non-government Catholic independent; NGCS = Non-government Catholic systemic; NGOT = Non-government other; TAFE = TAFE.

7.2 Summary of the machine learning models

The two predictive models are built using the ensembles tree model. We trained two XGBoost models based on the five years of Year 12 students' data (2014 to 2018) and the following year's first-year university students. The first model tries to predict students' ATAR based on 17 features from Year 12 students. The second model is developed to predict the first-year GPA and is based on 20 features from first-year university students.

The ATAR prediction model considers the following features from a Year 12 student (the classifications for categorical variables follow):

- residential IEO rank
- residential remoteness ('0: major cities of Australia', '1: inner regional Australia', '2: outer regional Australia', '3: remote Australia', '4: very remote Australia')
- gender ('0: F', '1: M', '2: X')
- Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander ('0: Non ATSI', '1: Aboriginal', '2: TSI')
- school size
- school mean ATAR
- school IEO rank



- school disadvantaged flag ('0: no', '1: yes')
- school remoteness ('0: major cities of Australia', '1: inner regional Australia', '2: outer regional Australia', '3: remote Australia', '4: very remote Australia')
- school type ('0: GVNS', '1: GVSL', '2: NGCI', '3: NGCS', '4: NGOT', '5: TAFE')
- school gender ('0: B', '1: C', '2: G', '3: X')
- key learning areas
- highest level of mathematics ('0: no mathematics', '1: Mathematics General 2', '2: Mathematics', '3: Mathematics Extension 1', '4: Mathematics Extension 2')
- highest level of English ('0: English as a Second Language', '1: English Standard', '2: English Advanced', '3: English Extension 1', '4: English Extension 2')
- Category B subjects ('0: no', '1: yes')
- extension subjects (other than English and Mathematics) ('0: no', '1: yes')

The first-year GPA prediction model considers the following features from a first-year university student (the classifications for categorical variables follow):

- residential IEO rank
- residential remoteness ('0: major cities of Australia', '1: inner regional Australia', '2: outer regional Australia', '3: remote Australia', '4: very remote Australia')
- gender ('0: F', '1: M', '2: X')
- Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander ('0: Non ATSI', '1: Aboriginal', '2: TSI')
- school size
- school mean ATAR
- school IEO rank
- school disadvantaged flag ('0: no', '1: yes')
- school remoteness ('0: major cities of Australia', '1: inner regional Australia', '2: outer regional Australia', '3: remote Australia', '4: very remote Australia')
- school type ('0: GVNS', '1: GVSL', '2: NGCI', '3: NGCS', '4: NGOT', '5: TAFE')
- school gender ('0: B', '1: C', '2: G', '3: X')
- key learning areas
- highest level of mathematics ('0: no mathematics', '1: Mathematics General 2', '2: Mathematics', '3: Mathematics Extension 1', '4: Mathematics Extension 2')
- highest level of English ('0: English as a Second Language', '1: English Standard', '2: English Advanced,'3: English Extension 1', '4: English Extension 2')
- Category B subjects ('0: no', '1: yes')
- extension subjects (other than English and Mathematics) ('0: no', '1: yes')



- ATAR
- university ('0: regional universities', '1: metro universities', '2: Go8 universities')
- field of study ('0: unknown', '1: Natural and Physical Sciences', '2: Information Technology', '3: Engineering and Related Technologies', '4: Architecture and Building', '5: Agriculture, Environmental and Related Studies', '6: Health', '7: Education', '8: Management and Commerce', '9: Society and Culture', '10: Creative Arts', '11: Food, Hospitality and Personal Services', '12: Mixed Field Programs')
- equity scholarship ('0: no', '1: yes').

Overall, these features could be grouped into six categories: demographic and SES indices, high school features, subjects studied in Year 12, in which university and fields of study the students enrolled, the ATAR and scholarship. Some of these features are loaded from different data tables from our database and some are derived based on our data. For instance, both the residence IEO rank and school IEO rank are derived based on the students' residential address. We developed a service to match a given address to the Statistical Areas Level 1 (SA1) code of the address and the corresponding IEO rank from the 2016 SEIFA data set.

For both the ATAR and GPA models, we used the same dataset described earlier (2013 to 2017 HSC students who applied to and enrolled in a bachelor degree through UAC the following year (2014 to 2018)); however, we have removed some student samples during the data cleaning approach due to missing data, invalid data or other data problems. As a result, we have 195,906 training samples for the ATAR model and 121,673 training samples for the GPA model. The cleaned data was split into two parts – 90 per cent of the data was used for training the model, while the other 10 per cent was kept for testing purpose.

The training process builds two XGBoost models for predicting the ATAR and first-year GPA separately. The inputs of the models are the features generated from the original dataset as described above, whereas the prediction target is the normalised ATAR value (from 0 to 0.9995) for the ATAR model and normalised GPA value (from 0 to 1) for the GPA model. The models are built with the XGBoost package and analysed with a SHAP package in a Python environment. The two models are fine-tuned separately, but share the following major settings:

- number of estimators: 2000
- maximum depth of trees: 6
- evaluation metric: logloss.

These two models are evaluated on 10 per cent of their student data separately. The GPA model has a 0.1241 squared mean error and the GPA model has a 0.1770 squared mean error on test data set separately. We did not include some features that are directly relevant to student's academic performance. For instance, subject scores for predicting ATAR and university course scores for predicting GPA. We did not use these features as they are not the focus of this work. Instead, we explored different SES indices as model input and analysed their impact on students' academic performance.

There are some limitations on this work, which could be improved in the future. Firstly, the students' records with no ATAR are removed for training the ATAR model and records with no GPA are removed for training the GPA model. As a result, these students are neglected in this work. Future work could analyse the difference of SES impact on these student groups.

Secondly, the address match uses an Elasticsearch-based approach which may cause some addresses to either not match or match incorrectly. We currently use postcode for IEO rank for those unmatched addresses, which may not be as accurate as SA1. Future work could improve



the scoring algorithm of the address match service to generate a more accurate IEO rank. In this study we analysed the compound effect of multiple features, such as the impact of both IEO rank and remoteness features on ATAR and GPA. Future research could extend this approach on other feature combinations.